
Enterprise and Business Committee

Meeting Venue:
Committee Room 1 - Senedd

Meeting date:
13 May 2015 

Meeting time:
09.15

For further information please contact: 
Martha Howells
Second Clerk
0300 200 6565
SeneddEcon@Assembly.Wales 

Agenda

Pre-meeting in private (09.15-09.30)

1 Introductions, apologies and substitutions  

2 Scrutiny of Network Rail (09.30-10.30) (Pages 1 - 32) 
Mark Langman, Route Managing Director – Wales, Network Rail
Tim James, Head of Strategy and Planning – Wales, Network Rail
Jo Kaye, Director - Strategy & Planning, Network Rail

Attached Documents: 
Research Brief
EBC(4)-12-15 (p.1) Network Rail

Break (10.30-10.45)

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



3 City Regions (10.45-11.30) (Pages 33 - 38) 
Professor Gillian Bristow, Cardiff University School of Planning and Geography 

Attached Documents: 
EBC(4)-12-15 (p.2) Written Submission by Professor Gillian Bristow and Dr Adrian 
Healy

4 Development Bank for Wales (11.30-12.30) (Pages 39 - 51) 
Ian Johnson, Chairman, Finance Wales 
Michael Owen, Group Investment Director, Finance Wales
David Staziker, Group Technical Director, Finance Wales

Attached Documents: 
EBC(4)-12-15 (p.3) Finance Wales Written Submission

5 Papers to note

5.1 STEM update  (Pages 52 - 86) 

Attached Documents: 
EBC(4)-12-15 (p.4) Letter from Julie James to William Graham regarding STEM update
EBC(4)-12-15 (p.5) Draft STEM in Education Delivery Plan

6 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the public 
from the remainder of the meeting.  

7 Maritime Economy Scoping Paper (12.30-12.40) (Pages 87 - 90)

Attached Documents: 
Maritime Economy in Wales

De-brief in private (12.40-12.45)





Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Welsh Route Study
Long Term  

Planning Process
Summary  

Document

Pack Page 23



The Railway in Wales

Jargon buster

The rail industry benefits from 
the stability of five year funding 
settlements – called Control Periods. 

Control Period 5 or CP5 runs from 
April 2014 to March 2019.

Control Period 6 or CP6 runs from 
April 2019 to March 2024.

The Welsh railway is more popular than ever. 
More and more people use the network every 
day and we’re carrying almost 50 per cent 
more passengers than 10 years ago. 

To cater to this growing demand, we are 
already running more trains than a decade 
ago. We are also delivering the biggest 
investment in the Welsh railway since 
Victorian times. 

Our ambitious modernisation programme 
includes electrifying the railway and installing 
modern signalling to help deliver improved 
reliability and the potential for more and 
faster journeys. 

This will transform the railway and help to 
cater for the record numbers of passengers. 
But with demand set to continue growing, we 
need to plan for the future.

Welsh Route Study

Pack Page 24



Planning for growth

The Welsh Route Study examines 
options to build a bigger and better 
railway for Wales and the borders. 

The study sets out a long term 
strategy to cater for rising demand 
on the railway in Wales from 
2019 and beyond. The document 
outlines opportunities to meet 
this future demand, with possible 
options for funders including a 
major re-development of Cardiff 
Central station and modernising 
the railway across North Wales, 
including the electrification of the 
North Wales Coast Main Line.

It sets out a vision for the next 10 to 
30 years of a much busier railway, with 
investment delivering faster, more 
frequent and more reliable journeys.

The benefits of this potential 
investment will flow far beyond 
the rail network. Even if you are 
not one of the tens of thousands 
of people who travel by train every 
day in Wales, you still rely on rail.

The railway in Wales supports 
economic growth, reduces the 
environmental impact of the transport 
sector and helps to regenerate 
communities.  Wales relies on a 
safe and punctual railway and this 
study sets out proposals to meet 
future demand so that the railway 
continues to make a positive 
difference to the economy, the 
environment and to people’s lives.

The draft study seeks to deliver a 
railway that offers value to taxpayers 
and funders. It has been developed 
collaboratively with our partners and 
the engagement of the Department 
for Transport and Welsh Government 
has been important in setting the 
policy context for the future railway.

This is a consultation document and 
is your opportunity to help influence 
the future of the railway in Wales. We 
welcome your thoughts, comments and 
suggestions regarding the industry’s 
plans for meeting the growth in 
demand over the next 10 to 30 years.

2

40 —

35 —

30 —

25 —

20 —

15 —

10 —

5 —

0 —

20
03

 - 
04

  —

20
04

 - 
05

  —

20
05

 - 
06

  —

20
06

 - 
07

  —

20
07

 - 
08

  —

20
08

 - 
09

  —

20
09

 - 
10

  —

20
10

 - 
11

  —

20
11

 - 
12

  —

20
12

 - 
13

  —

20
13

 - 
14

  —

20
14

 - 
15

  —

20
15

 - 
16

  —

20
16

 - 
17

  —

20
17

 - 
18

  —

20
18

 - 
19

  —

Pa
ss

en
ge

r j
ou

rn
ey

s 
(m

ill
io

ns
)

Actual growth: Services within Wales

Actual growth: Services to/from Wales

Forecast growth: Services within Wales

Forecast growth: Services to/from Wales

A COLLABORATIVE PROCESS

Pack Page 25



Priority flows

The long distance market continues 
to be driven by the needs of business 
and leisure passengers. There are a 
number of strong and well established 
long distance markets between Wales 
and the wider network, including 
North and South Wales to London. 

The regional urban market includes 
journeys into Cardiff from the 
Valleys network, into Bristol from 
South Wales and North East 
Wales to North West England. 

Growth in this market will be 
influenced by a rise in commuting 
opportunities. This rising demand is 
being driven by a number of factors, 
including growing employment 
and business opportunities as well 
as the cost of car ownership. 

The rail network in Wales and 
the border counties also support 
a number of important freight 
flows. Like demand for passenger 
services, freight traffic is forecast 
to see considerable growth in 
future years, driven principally 
by the intermodal market.

The Welsh Route Study identifies key 
corridors and highlights expected 
increases in passenger and freight flows. 

Long distance priority flows

Key

Regional urban priority flows

South West Wales

Mid Wales

South East Wales

North Wales

*Not to scale

Cardi�

London

Swansea

West Midlands

North West England
(Chester, Liverpool, Manchester)

Wrexham

Bristol

Welsh Route Study

Pack Page 26



4

FORECAST PASSENGER GROWTH 
CARDIFF TO LONDON

34%

142%

2023

2043

FORECAST PASSENGER GROWTH 
NORTH WALES COAST TO LONDON

27%

151%

2023

2043

FORECAST PASSENGER GROWTH 
WREXHAM TO LIVERPOOL

27%

82%

2023

2043

Pack Page 27



Choices for funders

The railway of 2019 will look vastly 
different from the railway of 2004. 
As well as accommodating more 
passengers, investment across the route 
will have delivered re-opened lines, more 
capacity, bigger and better stations 
and, for the first time, electric trains.

However, with demand set to continue 
growing and the economy reliant 
on improved inter and intra regional 
links, more investment is needed. 
We have therefore set out a number 
of investment opportunities for our 
funders for CP6 (2019 to 2024).

By the end of Control Period 5, the 
railway in Wales will have benefitted 
from 15 years of sustained investment.

Welsh Route Study

Beyond CP6

The Route Study also highlights a 
number of longer term options to meet 
demand and improve connectivity 
up to 2043. The longer term strategy 
builds on the CP6 choices and will 
provide strategic input to Network 
Rail’s plans to modernise the railway 
network in Wales and the bordering 
counties over the next 30 years.

Choices for Funders in CP6 
(2019-2024)

1.
Longer trains on Cardiff Valley Lines  
services during peak periods

2. 
Phased enhancements on Valley  
Lines aligned to emerging Cardiff  
Capital City Metro proposals

3.
Upgrade of the Relief Lines between  
Severn Tunnel Junction and Cardiff Central

4.
A re-developed Cardiff Central station

5.
Level crossing closures in west Wales

6.
Continuation of additional peak services on 
Heart of Wales Line

7.
Train lengthening on selected services 
between Cardiff and Manchester

8.
Modernisation of the North Wales Coast 
Main Line

9.
North Wales Coast Main Line journey  
time improvements

10.
Development of new interchange  
station at Shotton

11.
Further network enhancement  
between Wrexham and Chester

12.
Journey time improvements  
between Wrexham and Bidston

13.
Continuation of additional peak  
services on the Cambrian Line

Pack Page 28



Swansea
Pembroke Dock

Shrewsbury

Chester

Wrexham

Aberystwyth

Cardi� 

Newport

Holyhead

Bangor

Pwllheli

Llandovery

Hereford

Crewe

6

1

2 3
4

5

6

7

89

10

11
12

13

Pack Page 29



Cardiff -  
Capital City Region

We’re also examining options to deliver 
a major redevelopment of Cardiff Central 
station. The proposals could see an 
extension to the Grade II listed building to 
create a bigger, better and brighter station.

Additionally, the Welsh Government 
has plans to develop a multi-modal 
integrated transport system for the 
Cardiff Capital City Region. The Metro 
approach investigates rail, light rail and 
tram options which would potentially 
free-up much needed capacity. 
Converting some short distance routes 
to a mixture of on-rail and on-street 
running could potentially allow more 
trains to run on the Valley Lines network.

There are a number of ideas in 
development to consider the potential 
of Metro and the Welsh Government is 
consolidating this into an arms-length 
subsidiary company. The Route Study 
concludes that further work would be 
beneficial to fully consider how the railway 
can play its part in the Metro concept.

Passenger numbers into Cardiff, driven 
by commuters, are forecast to continue 
growing over the next few decades. By 
running more and longer trains, we’ll be 
able to help cater for this rising demand. 

Welsh Route Study

FORECAST GROWTH FOR COMMUTING 
INTO CARDIFF CITY REGION

68%

144%

2023

2043

/10-Feb-15 6

Passenger experience

Pack Page 30



8

A more resilient railway 

The resilience of the railway to extreme 
weather events is a considerable part 
of Network Rail’s future plans for a 
safer, reliable and resilient network. 

As in other parts of Great Britain, the 
extreme weather events in December 
2013 and January 2014 caused 
disruption to parts of the network 
covered in this Route Study. There 
was an impact on local and regional 
economies, particularly in North Wales, 
West Wales and the Cambrian coast.

In September 2014, Network Rail 
published a series of Weather 
Resilience and Climate Change 
Adaptation (WRCCA) plans, identifying 
appropriate actions to increase weather 
resilience. The plan for Wales sets 
out the plans, policies and actions 
that are in place to address resilience 
in the Welsh Route Study area.

Digital Railway

Investing in technology will 
help us improve the way that 
we manage the railway. 

The Digital Railway programme is 
being developed by Network Rail and 
rail industry partners to accelerate 
the introduction and roll out of new 
technologies on the rail network. 

By using technology, there may be 
opportunities to meet future demand 
without the need for disruptive and 
costly infrastructure interventions. 

The Welsh Route Study assesses 
the role that a future deployment 
of the state-of-the-art European 
Train Control System (ETCS) might 
play in delivering enhanced network 
capability and capacity, particularly 
on the Cardiff Valley Lines network 
and the South Wales Main Line.

Planning for the Future
/10-Feb-15 6

Passenger experience

Pack Page 31



We want to hear from you

The full document is available at:

www.networkrail.co.uk/long-term-
planning-process/route-studies 

The consultation process is 
open until 9 June 2015. 

If you wish to respond, please 
email your comments to 
the following address:

WelshRouteStudy@networkrail.co.uk

Or by post to:

Welsh Route Study Consultation 
Strategic Planner 
Network Rail (Group Strategy) 
5 Callaghan Square 
Cardiff, CF10 5BT

Acknowledgements 

Planning the future of the network for 
the next 10 to 30 years is a privilege 
and is an important responsibility. 

The development of this Welsh 
Route Study Draft for Consultation 
has been made possible through 
close collaboration with funders, 
customers and stakeholders.

Network Rail is grateful to the following 
funders and industry partners - Welsh 
Government, the Department for 
Transport, Arriva Trains Wales, Arriva 
CrossCountry, DB Schenker, First Great 
Western, Freightliner, GB Railfreight, 
Rail Delivery Group and Virgin Trains. 

We are also grateful to other  
important stakeholders who have 
contributed to the strategy –  
including local authorities, Rail Freight 
Group and community rail groups.

What’s next?

Summer 2015
PUBLICATION OF FINAL 
WELSH ROUTE STUDY

Autumn 2016
INITIAL INDUSTRY PLAN

Summer 2017
HIGH LEVEL OUTPUT 
SPECIFICATION

Early 2018
NETWORK RAIL STRATEGIC 
BUSINESS PLAN

Autumn 2018
ORR FINAL 
DETERMINATION	

April 2019
START OF CP6	

Autumn 2018
RENEWAL OF WALES AND 
BORDERS FRANCHISE

Welsh Route Study

Pack Page 32



1

Written Submission to the National Assembly for Wales’ Enterprise and 
Business Committee: City Regions and the Metro

Professor Gillian Bristow and Dr Adrian Healy

City Region Exchange*, Cardiff University

May 2015

*City Region Exchange is one of Cardiff University’s five flagship 
engagement projects, formally launched at the Senedd in October 2014. City 
Region Exchange is intended to strengthen the University’s engagement with 
the Cardiff Capital Region’s key decision-makers and with its range of 
different stakeholder communities. The Exchange plans to better understand 
the University’s role in the Cardiff Capital Region, and to support the 
Region’s development by enhancing the linkages between the University’s 
education provision, its research and knowledge exchange activities, and the 
development needs of the Region and its key partners.

Introduction

We welcome this opportunity to provide a perspective on the issues being 
discussed by the Enterprise and Business Committee concerning the 
progress of City Regions and the Metro. This written submission focuses 
primarily on issues relating to:

 the current progress of the City Region and Metro projects;
 the approach to governance of the City Regions and Metro; 
 and the connections between the City Region and Metro developments, 

and other related policies and plans.

Current progress of the City Region and Metro projects

It is almost three years since the publication of Dr Elizabeth Haywood’s 
report to the Welsh Government which outlined the case for two city regions 
in Wales around Cardiff and Swansea. In 2013, the Welsh Government 
formally established two Boards to support strategy development in the two 
city regions, both of which have recently produced strategy reports.

Pack Page 33

Agenda Item 3



2

The work of the Boards and the production of these reports represent 
positive progress in city region development, with two key general 
developments worthy of note:

 the clear evidence of a will to collaborate rather than to compete, 
particularly amongst relevant local authorities, in the interests of their 
wider city regions;

 the assertion of key strategic projects and themes (such as the Metro 
in the Cardiff Capital Region) seen as important for the future 
economic development success of the city regions.

However, these reports also reveal that there is still considerable further 
work to be done in order to turn these city region discussions into practical 
plans and projects. In particular there is a need for:

 clearly defined objectives and timetables for action. Neither report is 
explicit in its objectives or sets out key milestones for action. Without 
clear objectives and appropriate targets, even modest ones, it will be 
very difficult to judge what it is that the city regions are trying to 
achieve, and how well they are doing. Timetables need to be realistic 
and have a suitably long time-frame. The effects of investment in 
infrastructure and human capital take at least three years to emerge 
(OECD, 2009). UK City Deals typically have a 10 – 15 year planning 
horizon;

 delivery bodies. Both reports say very little about how these city region 
strategies and visions are to be taken forward and by whom, perhaps 
understandably given that they were advisory in nature. However, with 
the Boards due to be wound up this month, there is a pressing need 
for delivery bodies to be established which are capable of providing 
strategic governance and leadership of city region project plans, and 
of mobilising action and engagement across not only the public sector, 
but also the business sector and the diverse communities which make 
up the city regions. Our recent round of engagement with 
representatives from across local authority economic development and 
regeneration departments in the Cardiff Capital Region has found a 
growing degree of frustration at the slow rate of progress in putting 
delivery mechanisms in place (see below for further discussion of 
governance issues);

 appropriate tools and resources for collaborative projects. Neither 
report presents any proposals for pooling available resources and 
existing funding streams into single investment funds for the good of 

Pack Page 34



3

the city region as a whole. Yet pooled investment funds are likely to 
provide a critical means of activating priority, collaborative projects. 
Furthermore, when administered by an overarching strategic body, 
they can work to balance the pursuit of a city region’s most attractive 
economic development opportunities with concern for how evenly their 
benefits are distributed across it (as in the Sheffield city region for 
example).

Approach to governance of the City Regions and Metro

Developing effective, co-ordinated governance at the city region scale will be 
critical for future success. A growing body of international evidence indicates 
that organisations dedicated to co-ordinating policies and investments 
across urban agglomerations have positive effects. This is particularly in 
relation to land use planning and transport.

Indeed, recent research from the OECD has suggested that governance 
fragmentation can more than offset the economic effects of urban 
agglomeration. For a given population size, a metropolitan area with twice 
the number of municipalities is associated with around six percent lower 
productivity. This is an effect that is mitigated by almost half, by the 
existence of a governance body at the metropolitan level (Ahrend et al, 
2014).

     Thus, in order to progress the Swansea Bay City Region and Cardiff Capital 
Region, decisions have to be made about what form of governance will best 
build and mobilise the collaborative working required to support their 
development. There is also a need to minimise the risk that current, 
overlapping discussions on governance reform result in fragmented 
governance.

There appear to be no legal barriers in the way of developing city regions in 
Wales or indeed any evident constraints on the form their delivery bodies 
might take. Experience from city regions elsewhere suggests that various 
models exist, from more formal structures where co-ordinating bodies are 
given powers over financial resources and key areas of policy, to more 
informal and voluntary partnerships or coalitions of authorities who work 
together to agree plans and objectives. Nevertheless, there is strong 
evidence to suggest that city regions need authorities with capacities to 
influence land use planning, and transport at the very least, if not also skills 
development and training to better support the functioning of labour 
markets. 

Pack Page 35



4

It may be preferable and indeed appropriate to develop different, place-
specific arrangements for the form and structure of city region authorities in 
Swansea Bay and the Cardiff Capital Region. The two city regions face 
different economic and organisational challenges and serve different 
functions for the Welsh economy as a whole. In practical terms, it may also 
be easier for arrangements for Swansea Bay to evolve out of its existing 
Board given there are only four local authorities involved, each of which is 
currently represented on the Board. A slightly different model may have to 
be developed for the Cardiff Capital Region given it has 10 local authorities, 
not all of whom have direct representation on the current Board. 

In terms of the metro, again there would be appear to be no legal barriers to 
its implementation, although the electrification of the Great Western 
mainline remains the responsibility of the UK government (for which funding 
has now been agreed with the Welsh Government). The analyses which have 
underpinned the metro proposals clearly indicate that two factors will be 
critical to its effective development:

 additional sources of funding. For the Cardiff Capital Region the 
promise of a City Deal offers a potentially very valuable, city region-
wide resource for key infrastructure and economic development 
projects such as the metro. However, this funding may be called upon 
more widely in support of various other city region projects. As such, 
additional sources of funding for the metro should also be explored 
including tax increment financing, road pricing and EU Structural 
Funds available post-2015;

 a delivery body. There is a strong case for putting delivery of the 
metro in the hands of a transport authority with statutory powers, and 
which draws upon appropriate commercial and technical expertise. 
This would seem to be critical to driving forward the metro project and 
seizing on the opportunities provided by the prospective City Deal and 
other funding.

Connections between the City Region and Metro developments, and 
other related policies and plans

The city region and metro developments are more likely to be truly 
transformative if they are developed in a manner which complements other, 
related policies and plans. Developing the theme of integration across the 
city region’s infrastructure projects and wider economic development plans 

Pack Page 36



5

and agendas, such as the Great Western Cities initiative, will be critical in 
enhancing the development opportunities available:

 Infrastructure developments. The determining factors of regional 
economic performance appear to be mutually reinforcing, thereby 
underlining the importance of cross-sectoral approaches to policy 
formulation and delivery.  Enabling city regions to connect their 
economic and transport plans with strategic planning powers would 
seem to be particularly important. This would enable economic 
development to be encouraged and focused around critical nodes in 
the metro network (as in Stuttgart) (Frank and Morgan, 2012).

It is also important that skills and training development is developed 
in a manner which complements infrastructure developments such as 
the metro. International evidence suggests that while public 
investment in infrastructure has a positive effect on regional growth, 
the effect is much stronger when educational attainment is high 
(OECD, 2009). Furthermore in terms of skills, reducing the proportion 
of people in a region with very low skills seems to matter more than 
increasing the share with very high skills (OECD, 2012). Simply 
concentrating resources in one place will not necessarily lead to the 
agglomeration benefits associated with city regions. Developing these 
benefits critically depends upon the existence of a pooled labour 
market, strong backward and forward linkages among firms, and 
knowledge spillovers. Thus ‘the key appears to be how assets are 
used, how different stakeholders interact and how synergies are 
exploited’ (OECD, 2009; p. 46). This underlines the importance of 
integrated city region development strategies that cut across sectors 
and that are based on inclusive governance arrangements.

 Great Western Cities. The local authorities of Cardiff, Newport and 
Bristol have recently agreed to work more closely together under the 
title of the Great Western Cities, to promote the region as a high 
quality destination for business investment. As part of this, they have 
agreed to collaborate to shape transport plans, and to work together 
to realise the energy potential of the Severn Estuary and Bristol 
Channel. There is a powerful logic for building on the strengths of the 
economic mass of this large Severnside region which is already 
characterised by strong economic relationships (as articulated by the 
City Growth Commission, 2014). In particular, the Great Western Cities 
alliance provides significant opportunities to raise the external profile 
of the region and its cities at a time when the continued growth of 

Pack Page 37



6

London makes for a very challenging environment for other metro 
areas in the UK. In this regard, this is a potentially very complementary 
development to the Cardiff Capital Region and Swansea Bay City 
Regions particularly if it allows for the development of a stronger and 
more coherent place marketing message in support of the attraction of 
external investment and events to South Wales and the South West. It 
also carries the important benefit of collaboration on larger strategic 
infrastructure and energy projects that inevitably cut across 
Severnside’s geographical and administrative divides. Clear 
communication across relevant strategic decision-makers will be 
critical to ensure these developments are complementary in practice.

        

Conclusions

The development of city region Boards and strategy documents for the 
Swansea Bay and Cardiff Capital Region represent a positive step forward in 
the development of city regions in Wales. However, there is further work to 
be done to turn their ideas into tangible projects with clear objectives, plans 
and timetables, overseen and taken forward by inclusive delivery bodies with 
long-term planning horizons.

References

Ahrend, R., Farchy, E., Kaplanis, I. and Lembcke, A.C. (2014) ‘What makes 
cities more productive? Evidence on the role of urban governance from five 
OECD countries’, OECD Regional Development Working Papers, No. 5, May 
2014. Paris.

City Growth Commission (2014) ‘Unleashing metro growth’, Report of the 
City Growth Commission and RSA: London.

Frank, A. and Morgan, K. (2012) ‘Re-inventing the city: the art of metro-
governance in the Stuttgart Region’, Papers in Planning Research No. 186, 
School of Planning and Geography, Cardiff University.

OECD (2009) ‘Regions Matter: Economic Recovery, Innovation and 
Sustainable Growth’, OECD: Paris.

OECD (2012) ‘Promoting Growth in all Regions: Lessons from across the 
OECD’, OECD: Paris.

Pack Page 38



 

1 
 

Written Submission made by  
Finance Wales to the  
National Assembly for Wales 
Enterprise and Business Committee 
Inquiry into the  
Development Bank for Wales  
 
8th May 2015 
 
 

Pack Page 39

Agenda Item 4



 

2 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

Finance Wales welcomes the opportunity to provide oral evidence to the Enterprise and 

Business Committee on 13 May 2015 in respect of the inquiry into the proposed 

Development Bank for Wales (DBW). In advance of the oral evidence session, this 

written submission summarises the position of Finance Wales in respect of the 

important issues being scrutinised by the Committee. 

 

Finance Wales is excited by the potential of the DBW and note the clear and 

unequivocal commitment provided by the Minister for Economy, Science and Transport 

that the DBW will be established, and cross-party backing in the National Assembly to 

support the Minister in this task.  

 

Finance Wales further notes the recognition of the talent, expertise and experience in its 

organisation acknowledged by the Minister during the oral evidence session held on 23 

April 2015 and similar recognition noted by the Finance Committee in their May 2014 

report on Finance Wales. As an organisation we look forward to playing a central role in 

ensuring the future success of the DBW and await further clarity on the roadmap to 

establishing the DBW, as indicated by the Minister. 

 

Until the DBW is established, Finance Wales will continue to serve the Welsh SME 

community by providing comprehensive and innovative financing to help fill the funding 

gap that clearly currently exists. In fulfilling this role, Finance Wales continues to 

perform strongly and our latest annual results show that financial year 2014-15 has 

been the best ever year for Finance Wales Group, with a £104m impact on the Welsh 

SME funding gap, helping to create or safeguard 2,897 jobs.  

 

Finance Wales continues to evolve in response to the demands of the SME community 

in Wales. The £6 million Wales Micro-business Loan Fund, the £7.5m Wales Technology 

Seed Fund, the £10m Wales Capital Growth Fund and the £10 million Wales Property 

Development Fund, all backed by the Welsh Government, have expanded the financing 

options we are able to provide. As a result of the wider range of funds invested by 

Finance Wales, our impact on the economy of Wales since our establishment in 2001 

has grown to £856m, creating or safeguarding over 38,000 jobs.  

 

Finance Wales shares the desire of the Minister to enhance scrutiny of our performance. 

We welcome the opportunity to provide evidence to the Enterprise and Business 

Committee, and stands ready to be scrutinised by other relevant committees of the 

National Assembly when invited. 

 

EVOLUTION OF FINANCE WALES 

 

In 2001 the Welsh Development Agency (WDA) established a wholly owned subsidiary, 

Finance Wales plc, with the primary objective of assisting SME firms obtain finance 

appropriate to their needs.  At that time public intervention was required to address 

Pack Page 40



 

3 
 

market failure in the area of access to finance for SMEs.  As a ‘gap funder’ Finance Wales 

was subject to specific criteria, which meant that it could not compete with the banks or 

other private sector funders and charged market interest rates which reflected the risks.  

On formation, Finance Wales inherited from the WDA a suite of equity and loan funds 

and a set of support services designed to enhance the ability of its SME clients to source 

funding.     

 

These funds enabled Finance Wales to offer equity investments up to £250,000, small 

business loans of up to £50,000 and interest free loans for university spin-out businesses 

of up to £25,000. Other products afforded Finance Wales the means to assist businesses 

seeking investment finance, including access to informal investment via Business Angels 

and support for businesses starting up in the university sector.    

 

The WDA was abolished in April 2006 and shares in Finance Wales plc subsequently 

transferred to the Welsh Ministers, with responsibility for its activities as a Welsh 

Government Sponsored Body passing to the Minister for Economy, Science and 

Transport.  Around that time, Finance Wales’ business support programmes were 

absorbed into the Welsh Government to become part of its overall business support 

offering. 

 

Finance Wales plc has a number of subsidiaries which make up the Finance Wales Group 

and encompass both Fund Holding and Fund Management activities. In order to satisfy 

EU State Aid requirements, as a public financial intermediary the funding we provide to 

SMEs must be managed commercially, with our managers taking investment decisions 

at arm’s length from the Welsh Government.      

 

Finance Wales has grown into a key Welsh financial institution supporting the provision 

of risk finance to SMEs through a range of funds, some of which leverage private capital 

from banking institutions such as Barclays and the European Investment Bank (EIB) 

matched with public funds from either the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) 

or more recently the Welsh Government.    

 

The initial fund raising strategy was for Finance Wales to bid for ERDF backed 

investment funds for Wales.  These funds included the Objective 1 and Objective 2 

Funds and more recently the Wales JEREMIE Fund.  These funds are financial 

instruments providing loans, equity and mezzanine funding and were developed to 

address the identified market failure to support SMEs in Wales.   

 

In the last few years financial instruments have been gaining prominence in public policy 

mainly for two reasons: 

 

1. They leverage limited public support by incentivising the involvement of the 

private sector so that every £1 provided by the public sector is matched by £1 

from private sources and the total amount that benefits SMEs is doubled.  In 

times of budgetary austerity this leveraging effect is very important to public 

Pack Page 41



 

4 
 

bodies with competing claims on finite resources. 

 

2. Unlike grants, which are used in one-off interventions to support single 

companies, financial instruments can be re-used and can increase the total 

amount of available funding so many more companies can be assisted. 

Finance Wales also identified market gaps in Wales where the Wales JEREMIE Fund 

could not invest, and developed additional funds financed by the Welsh Government.  

 

Finance Wales also acts as Holding Fund manager in respect of the £50m Wales Life 

Sciences Investment and the £0.8m Social Enterprise Micro Loan Funds and procured 

specialist fund managers for these Funds.  

 

In total, Finance Wales has raised and managed funds for SME investment in Wales of 

approximately £390m. Finance Wales continues to fulfil the central role of not 

competing with banks and private sector finance providers, but working to fill the 

funding gap arising from market failure. 

 

xénos, the Wales Business Angel Network, is a member of the Finance Wales Group. 

xénos introduces private investors to companies seeking growth funding and sourced 

c.£2m of funding from angels for investment in Welsh SMEs in 2014/15. 

 

In 2009, it was understood that Wales would not qualify for further European Structural 

Funds and as a consequence Finance Wales, with Welsh Government approval, bid for 

fund management contracts in England to both reduce its Grant in Aid (GIA) 

requirements and develop its investment and return track record in order to attract 

future private sector funders. This strategy also gave Finance Wales excellent regional 

market intelligence into the dynamics of the SME funding market in other UK regions, 

which is used by Finance Wales to improve the products available to SME firms in Wales. 

 

In the UK, Fund Managers managing client money must be authorised by the Financial 

Conduct Authority (FCA). FW Capital Ltd is the FCA authorised subsidiary of Finance 

Wales, acting as Fund Manager for contracts totalling £75m with English Holding Funds. 

FW Capital contributes c.£0.5m pa towards the overhead costs of Finance Wales.  

Finance Wales has demonstrated that it has the expertise to set up and manage 

commercial funds for the Welsh Government. For example, within four months of an 

initial approach by the Welsh Government, Finance Wales set up the £170m Help to Buy 

Wales Fund. Feedback received from builders active across the UK is that Help to Buy 

Wales is the best run scheme in the UK. This fund also contributes £0.5m pa towards the 

overhead costs of Finance Wales and links seamlessly with the Wales Property 

Development Fund providing a complete funding solution to property developers and 

house purchasers in the new build market.  

 

The following table summarises the growth in Funds managed by Finance Wales since its 

formation, together with the sources of funds raised. 

Pack Page 42



 

5 
 

 
FW - Funds Under Management

Start Total Funds

Wales SME Funds - Managed by FW: Date WG (£'m) ERDF (£'m) EIB (£'m) Barclays (£'m) (£'m)

SLF 2001 17.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 17.7

Spin Out Fund 2001 2.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.6

Objective 1 Funds 2001 0.0 20.4 0.0 24.9 45.2

Objective 2 & Transitional Funds 2003 3.6 12.6 0.0 19.7 35.9

Creative Fund 2005 12.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.0

Rescue & Restructure Fund 2005 6.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.2

Interim Fund 2007 15.0 0.0 0.0 15.0 30.0

Jeremie Fund 2009 15.3 67.2 75.0 0.0 157.5

Wales SME Fund 2012 20.0 0.0 0.0 20.0 40.0

Micro Loans Fund 2013 5.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.2

Wales Property Fund 2013 10.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 10.0

Help To Buy Wales 2014 170.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 170.0

Working Capital Fund 2014 20.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 20.0

Technology Seed Fund 2014 7.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.5

Total 305.1 100.1 75.0 79.6 559.8

Wales SME Funds - FW Holding Fund Only:

Micro Loans 2013 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.8

Life Sciences 2013 50.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 50.0

Total 50.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 50.8

External Fund Management Contracts:

North East Growth Fund 2010 20.5

North West Loans Fund 2011 35.0

North West Mezz (Dev Cap) 2013 10.0

Tees Valley Catalyst Fund 2014 10.0

Total 75.5

Source of Funding

Funds are not held by FW - these are Fund Management Contracts

 
 

PERFORMANCE OF FINANCE WALES 

 

Finance Wales has performed strongly since establishment in 2001 as compared to its 

peers in other UK regions. The most recent (Q2 2013) comparison of the UK JEREMIE 

Funds’ performance by region (Wales, North East, North West and Yorkshire) showed 

that the Wales JEREMIE Fund had the biggest impact on economic development with 

over 8,300 jobs created and safeguarded and a £248m impact on the funding gap as well 

as having the lowest lifetime operating costs as a percentage of funds under 

management. 

 

Welsh SMEs have benefitted since 2001 from £337 million of investment from Finance 

Wales. These investments have also leveraged further investment of £519 million, taking 

our total impact on the Welsh economy to £856 million. With our backing, Welsh SMEs 

have since 2001 created or safeguarded 38,454 jobs in Wales. 

 

The performance of Finance Wales continues to improve. The financial year 2014-15 has 

been the best ever year for Finance Wales Group, with a milestone £104m impact on 

the funding gap in Wales. Loans and other investments by Finance Wales helped SME 

firms in Wales create or safeguard 2,897 jobs in the last financial year. Investment levels 

Pack Page 43



 

6 
 

in Wales rose by £15.1m to £48.2m as all funds managed by Finance Wales achieved or 

exceeded their investment target. The annual jobs target for Finance Wales was also 

exceeded by 39%. 

 

Since the Access to Finance Review process commenced in January 2013 the 

improvement in the performance of Finance Wales has continued, with key indicators 

reflecting our focus on listening, learning and responding to the Review:  

 

 We have achieved overall record year on year improvements in performance: 

 

 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 

Wales Investment £48m (137% of 
target) 

£33m £31m 

Jobs 
created/safeguarded 

2,897 (139% of 
target) 

3,435 1,915 

Private Sector 
Leverage 

£56m (121% 
target) 

£26m £22m 

FW Capital 
Investment 

£16m £15m £12m 

 

 Proactively identified market funding gaps in Wales and worked to address 

them as follows: 

o Wales Property Development Fund £10m (bridging loans) 

o Wales Capital Growth Fund £20m (working capital loans/guarantees) 

o Wales Technology Seed Fund £7.5m (seed equity investments) 

o Wales Micro-Business Loan Fund £6m (funding for up to £50k for SMEs) 

o Wales Succession Fund £10m (to be launched in 2015, providing funding 

to support management succession deals in Wales) 

 

 Reduced the Grant in Aid (GIA) requirement of Finance Wales from £3.2m in 

2012/13 to £2.3m in 2013/14 as a result of additional income from running 

more funds in Wales and England and from running the HTBW fund. By 

comparison, the GIA in 2008/9 was £5.6m. 

 

 Deepened cooperation with Business Wales. Finance Wales provides, at minimal 
cost annual training for Business Wales advisers, which serves to strengthen 
relationships and understanding between the two organisations. In Oct 2014, 
Finance Wales delivered six training events across Wales to 62 Business Wales 
advisors covering areas such as financial products, investment readiness and 
financial analysis. In Q1 2015, Finance Wales also commenced roll out of general 
financial products training to Welsh Government business development 
managers.  
 

 Maintained its reputation for investing ahead of target, exceeded economic 

development targets and maintained a stable portfolio default record well 

within bank covenant requirements. The loan and mezzanine default rates on 

Pack Page 44



 

7 
 

the Wales JEREMIE and Wales SME funds are running comfortably within their 

covenant review and default limits.  

 

 Repaid EIB borrowings of £9.4m interest and £48.6m capital (since 2010). The 

current balance outstanding with the EIB from the original £75m loan is £26.4m. 

 

 Continued to develop strong and trusted relationships with banking partners, 

with banks now acting as the leading introducer of clients to Finance Wales and 

they are a co-funder on most of our non-start up deals. 

 

 Number of equity realisations in 2014/15: 8 comprising 6 sales generating 
£16.6m (c. 2x return) and 2 stock market flotations (current value 1.7X cash 
invested). In 2013/14 3 exits were achieved. 
 

 Worked closely with the banks to develop a new £60m mid-market mezzanine 

fund model for which Finance Wales received three credit backed offers for 

bank debt funding of £20m from three high street banks to provide £40m of 

debt. Welsh Government balance sheet borrowing restrictions prevented this 

fund from proceeding further and an off balance sheet structure will need to be 

agreed for Finance Wales to tap into debt funds as part of a future fund 

structure.  

 

 Procured fund managers for the Wales Life Sciences Investment Fund. Finance 

Wales now manage the relationship with the winning fund manager, Arthurian, 

on behalf of the Welsh Government. 

 

These data points only tell one part of the story though. Our core constituency of SME 

firms operating in Wales or seeking to establish in Wales clearly value the role played by 

Finance Wales in addressing the funding gap and providing access to finance that is not 

being delivered by the market.  

 

There has been credible, independent recognition of our performance and value. The 

Finance Committee of the National Assembly found in their May 2014 report “Finance 

Wales” that: 

 

“Through this inquiry, the Committee was reassured to find that Finance Wales was well 

regarded across much of the business sector, as well as across the UK and further afield. 

We found that Finance Wales, on the whole, was making a positive contribution to the 

Welsh economy, and that what was needed was a clarification of their role and remit 

rather than a full scale overhaul” [page 5] 

 

It is particularly notable that the Finance Committee when consulting directly with our 

core SME constituency at a stakeholder event found broad endorsement of the role 

played by Finance Wales: 

 

Pack Page 45



 

8 
 

“There was a lot of support for Finance Wales at the session, and many commented that 

they disagreed with the findings in the Access to Finance review. SMEs told the Members 

that they value the approach taken by Finance Wales, such as being flexible in funding 

arrangements and the stability it offers in comparison to high street banks” [page 53] 

 

Finance Wales is an organisation that has had a demonstrably positive impact on the 

Welsh economy, is well respected, appreciated and valued by the SME community in 

Wales, and has continued to improve performance during the Review process. 

 

ACCESS TO FINANCE REVIEW 

 

Finance Wales has cooperated fully with the Access to Finance Review process. Our 

position on key areas raised during this process has been presented previously to the 

National Assembly for Wales Finance Committee, but is summarised below for ease of 

reference: 

 

1. Bank Funding. Finance Wales agrees that there is a gap in the supply of finance 

to SMEs in Wales and notes that while there continues to be debate over the 

exact size of the gap, Professor Dylan Jones-Evans estimated the gap to be in the 

region of £500m in 2015. 

 

2. Alternative sources of funding. Finance Wales endorsed the comments made on 

the strong availability of invoice discounting and other asset based lending. 

Finance Wales is looking at how to improve the impact of the xénos business 

angel network. Finance Wales also agree that peer-to-peer lending and 

crowdfunding are exciting growth areas in SME finance and is actively exploring 

these opportunities.   

 

3. Interest rates. The main issue here centred on the interest rates charged by 

Finance Wales.  In this regard Finance Wales lends at market rates which reflect 

the risk. This market approach was verified by an independent expert review 

commissioned by the Welsh Government and undertaken by Mr. Paul Goodman 

who is Vice Chairman of the National Association of Commercial Finance 

Brokers.  The review questioned whether better use could have been made of 

de minimis provisions in accordance with EU State Aid regulations to provide 

lower interest rates. This is an area that Finance Wales agreed to review and has 

subsequently launched the Technology Seed Fund which operates in accordance 

with the de minimis provisions or where there are co-investors, the Market 

Economy Operator Principle.  

 

4. Development Bank for Wales. See Development Bank for Wales section below. 

 

In response to the Access to Finance Review process and the related inquiry conducted 

by the Finance Committee of the National Assembly, Finance Wales has implemented a 

number of changes: 

Pack Page 46



 

9 
 

 

 Funding referral system. Finance Wales and Nat West Bank are the first two 

members of the pilot Wales Bank Referral Scheme. 

 

 Scrutiny. Finance Wales has published its annual accounts and interim reviews 

on a new performance section of its website. Finance Wales will be adopting a 

new “plc style” reporting standard in our Financial Accounts which gives more 

transparency on our performance. We have reaffirmed our long-standing 

willingness to accept invitations to appear before relevant committees of the 

National Assembly. 

 

 Transparency. Finance Wales has published the interest rates it offered during 

2013/14 by risk category in its ‘Frequently Asked Questions’ page of its website. 

 

 Stakeholder engagement. Improved communications with our key stakeholders 

through specific measures including: 

 

o Strengthened relationships with Business Wales. As previously detailed, 

Finance Wales provides and funds annual training for Business Wales 

advisers, which serves to strengthen relationships and understanding 

between the two organisations. In addition Finance Wales has 

commenced general financial products training to Welsh Government 

Business Development Managers. 

 

o Finance Wales has appointed liaison staff for each Welsh Government 

key sector, significantly improving cross team communication and 

enabling a more ‘Team Wales’ approach to each sector’s target 

companies in terms of business support and funding.  

 
o Set up a 2% interest rate discount scheme for SMEs based in Welsh 

Enterprise Zones applying for loan funding from Finance Wales. 

 

o Greater stakeholder engagement via social media including LinkedIn, 

Twitter and Google+. 

 

o Welsh Government Snapshot launched at the end of Q1 2014/15 and 

issued quarterly since. We will be expanding circulation beyond the 

Welsh Government to a wider audience from Q4 2014/15. 

 

o Sponsored prominent annual awards including Business in the 

Community, Wales Insider, Daily Post and Powys Business Awards. 

 

o Ran a succession management campaign to stimulate succession deal 

flow alongside PwC and Morgan Blake to banks and other introducers, 

and ran campaigns to stimulate deal flow in the convergence area of 

Pack Page 47



 

10 
 

Wales in order to complete the investment of the JEREMIE fund in this 

area. 

 

o Initiated a quarterly regional dinner programme with key opinion 

leaders in each region to discuss the local business market, understand 

key challenges and take feedback on the local performance of Finance 

Wales. The Mid and West Wales have generated very positive feedback 

on our approach and performance.  The North Wales dinner is 

scheduled to take place in May 2015. 

 

 EU State Aid exemptions. Finance Wales is in discussions with the Welsh 

Government regarding the best use of exemptions in considering new fund 

design. 

 

Such improvements implemented by Finance Wales were recognised by the Minister for 

Economy, Science and Transport in her recent appearance before the Enterprise and 

Business Committee. 

 

DEVELOPMENT BANK FOR WALES 

 

Finance Wales has now also had the opportunity to review in detail the Feasibility Study 

into the creation of a Development Bank for Wales (“the Study”).   Finance Wales is 

excited by the potential of the DBW and notes the clear and unequivocal commitment 

provided by the Minister for Economy, Science and Transport that the DBW will be 

established, and there is cross-party backing in the National Assembly to support the 

Minister in this task.  

 

Finance Wales further notes the recognition of the talent, expertise and experience in its 

organisation acknowledged by the Minister during the oral evidence session with the 

Enterprise and Business Committee held on 23 April 2015 and similar recognition noted 

by the Finance Committee in their May 2014 report on Finance Wales.   As an 

organisation we look forward to playing a central role in ensuring the future success of 

the DBW and await further clarity on the roadmap to establishing the DBW, as indicated 

by the Minister. 

 

In particular, Finance Wales welcomes the opportunity to provide assistance in helping 

meet the challenges that need to be addressed prior to the establishment of the DBW. 

We believe these will include a comparison of the economic development outputs the 

DBW would look to achieve compared to the existing provision from Welsh Government 

Grants, Finance Wales and Business Wales. We also believe they will include the 

generation of a business plan and model showing whether the aims (economic 

development outputs, increased investment levels, lower interest rates and lower 

defaults than those achieved by Finance Wales and break even within five years) of the 

DBW could be achieved and how much it would cost the Welsh Government to fund.  

 

Pack Page 48



 

11 
 

Until the DBW is established however, Finance Wales will continue to serve the Welsh 

SME community by providing comprehensive and innovative financing to help fill the 

funding gap that clearly currently exists.  

 

Finance Wales believes that the talent, expertise and experience within our organisation 

can play a role in the future success of the DBW. Key areas of capability and priority 

assigned by the Study for execution by the DBW could be delivered by ensuring the 

existing infrastructure of Finance Wales (including staff and financial products) are part 

of the solution. Crucially, this will also ensure the new organisation would have FCA fund 

management authorization, removing the time delays associated with a new application 

for authorisation for this activity.  In the context of microfinance Finance Wales 

currently holds interim permission from the FCA for regulated consumer credit activities 

and will apply for full authorisation once the application period set by the FCA opens. 

We believe this would be a much stronger starting point, as compared to a new entity, 

for gaining any additional regulatory approvals that may be required once the structure 

of the DBW has been agreed.  

 

Areas where the expertise of Finance Wales could be harnessed to help ensure the 

future success of the DBW include: 

 

 Microfinance: After listening to feedback from customers and advisers on 

making our micro loans more affordable, Finance Wales propose that the 

current Micro Fund is increased by a further £12 million and the maximum 

repayment term is increased from 5 years to 10 years. If demand outstrips 

supply, Finance Wales will keep the Welsh Government informed of the position 

and apply for top up funding as required. 

 

 Low to average risk SMEs: Finance Wales’ existing funds already cover this area. 

Finance Wales recommends that a review of the demand for funding from the 

Wales Capital Growth Fund is undertaken over the next year to assess further 

funding requirements. It is our view that getting banks to share their due 

diligence is likely to be challenging.  

 

 Proposed equity strategy for High Growth companies: Finance Wales has always 

procured fund managers for its ERDF backed funds. In the experience of Finance 

Wales, these funds are too small to attract a specialist investor as fund 

management fees are unattractive. Finance Wales own fund management team 

has established an excellent reputation in the market place. We will continue to 

assess the market need for specialist funds.  To date the development and 

launch of the Technology Seed Fund and the Wales Property Development Fund 

has demonstrated the capability of Finance Wales for identifying and responding 

to the market in a cost effective manner.   

 

Finance Wales believes it is building a centre of excellence for generalist 

investment skilled jobs in Wales. If the DBW pursues a strategy of outsourcing to 

Pack Page 49



 

12 
 

specialist fund managers, Finance Wales believes that Wales risks losing this 

skilled workforce. These skills should be retained and grown in Wales forming a 

key part of the financial and professional services sector in Wales. 

 

 Social enterprise sector: Finance Wales proposes to continue to provide funding 

into the social enterprise sector through its sub-contracted fund manager WCVA 

rather than taking a step backwards and only providing guidance and sign 

posting on how to become investment ready, as proposed in the Study.  

 

Taken together, Finance Wales believes that there is a compelling case for retaining the 

expertise and experience of Finance Wales in order to reduce as far as possible the 

execution risk from establishing the DBW, while ensuring at all times continuity of 

financing to the SME community.  

 

FUTURE PLANS FOR FINANCE WALES 

 

Finance Wales is keen to ensure that as an organisation we are absolutely focused on 

serving the SME community in Wales in the most efficient, transparent and cost-

effective manner possible. To this end, we have identified the following steps as being 

necessary to ensure that Finance Wales is fit for the future: 

 

1. Remit: Finance Wales would welcome the opportunity to evolve our remit 

further to ensure this is correctly focused on delivery of those priority areas 

raised in both the Review and Study. As a result of the recommendation of the 

National Assembly Finance Committee, initial work on potential revision of the 

remit has begun.  

 

2. Transparency: Finance Wales has already implemented significant 

improvements in this area, including making our Accounts and Annual Review 

available on our website, and re-affirm our long-standing willingness to accept 

invitations to appear before relevant committees of the National Assembly to 

scrutinise our performance. We hope also to regularise Ministerial contact and 

briefing by the Senior Management of Finance Wales. 

 

3. Sustainability: Finance Wales has improved efficiency in its operations in order 

to reduce the dependence on the GIA from the Welsh Government. As a result 

our GIA requirement has more than halved in recent years, from £5.6 million in 

2008/9 to £2.3 million in 2013/14. We aspire to removing by a fixed date the 

need for any GIA from the Welsh Government to Finance Wales. To this end, we 

propose continuing FW Capital’s strategy of winning profitable fund 

management contracts in other parts of the UK and continuing to operate the 

Help to Buy Wales Fund and any other Welsh Government funds we are asked 

to manage.  

 

Pack Page 50



 

13 
 

4. Co-operation: Whilst Finance Wales is well regarded by the SME community, we 

believe that there is more that could be done to bring us closer to our core 

constituency. We would like to investigate further the establishment of a formal 

consultative committee, consisting of senior representatives of the SME 

community in Wales, to align Finance Wales more closely with this constituency. 

This committee might be chaired by the Chief Executive of Finance Wales and 

include senior CBI, IoD, BCC and FSB representatives, meeting on perhaps a 

quarterly basis. We are also seeking to develop closer working relationships with 

the Welsh Government grant and sector teams, the Enterprise Zones, UK Export 

Finance and Business Wales, with the purpose of developing a ‘one stop shop’ 

for SMEs in Wales. 

 

5. New funds: Finance Wales will continue to work with Welsh Government and 

Welsh European Funding Office colleagues to design the JEREMIE Successor 

fund and other Welsh Government and/or private backed funds to ensure that 

Welsh SMEs have access to a complete range of funds.  

 

We feel that taken together, this package of substantial but highly practical measures 

could ensure that Finance Wales is even more closely aligned with the interests of the 

SME community in Wales and provide comfort to the Welsh Government and other 

stakeholders that as an organisation; Finance Wales is absolutely focused on delivering 

meaningful economic development outputs for the benefit of all its stakeholders in 

Wales. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

Finance Wales is excited by the potential of the DBW and firmly believes that the 

acknowledged talent, expertise and experience of its staff can play a key part in ensuring 

the future success of the DBW. We look forward to working closely with the Minister, 

National Assembly and all stakeholders in ensuring that the SME community in Wales 

continues to be provided with comprehensive and innovative financing to help fill the 

funding gap that clearly currently exists 

Pack Page 51



Pack Page 52

Agenda Item 5.1



1

Science, Technology, Engineering and 

Mathematics (STEM) in Education and Training

A delivery plan for Wales

Pack Page 54



2

Contents

        Page

1. Introduction and Strategic Vision 3

2. Building the evidence base 6

2.1 Collation and reporting of data 7
2.2 Further research and analysis 8

3. Supporting teaching and learning 11

3.1 Developing fit-for-purpose STEM curricula 13
3.2 Enhancing and enriching the STEM curriculum 14
3.3 Introducing fit-for-the future STEM qualifications 16
3.4 Advice, guidance and teacher support 17
3.5 Provision of bilingual resources 21
3.6 Wider ICT support 22
3.7 Developments in Higher Education 24

4. Changing perceptions 26

4.1 Reinforcing the importance of STEM  27
4.2 Careers advice and guidance 28

4.3 Women in STEM 30

Annex A – STEM in Education Key Indicators 32

Annex B – References / Additional Sources    33

Pack Page 55



3

1. Introduction and Strategic Vision 

Education changes lives, it provides opportunity, it enables individuals to shape their 
futures, it builds stronger, more tolerant and cohesive societies, it is the foundation of 
a strong economy.  In short, education matters.  Our vision for education is that:

Learners in Wales will enjoy teaching and learning that inspires them to 
succeed, in an education community that works cooperatively and aspires to 
be great, where the potential of every child and young person is actively 
developed.

Qualified for Life: an education improvement plan, 2014

This is no more relevant than in the development of Science, Technology, 
Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) skills and knowledge from our Foundation 
Phase through to post-graduate study and beyond into the workplace.  These skills 
enhance our young people’s ability to access and succeed in rewarding careers at all 
levels of employment, and provide the level of understanding necessary for all our 
young people to succeed in an increasingly science and technology driven world.

The importance of our children and young people developing (STEM) skills and 
knowledge at all levels is widely acknowledged.  These skills are essential to the 
development of a prosperous and sustainable knowledge economy in Wales.  

Science, technology, mathematics and engineering are the bedrock for 
innovation in business and industry and the Welsh Government will continue 
to push forward links between these and education, helping young people get
a real grasp of the real world of work.

Carwyn Jones, First Minister

STEM subjects, along with other quantitative disciplines, are highly valued across a 
range of occupations, offering students varied and highly rewarding career 
opportunities.  These subjects also support the Welsh Government’s commitment to 
jobs, growth and developing a highly skilled workforce for the future1.  Our ambition 
set out in the Policy Statement on Skills and in the subsequent Skills Implementation 
Plan is to develop a skills system in Wales that supports our future competitiveness, 
helps us evolve into a highly skilled society as well as tackle poverty, and is 
sustainable against the backdrop of ever scarcer resources. Our focus is on raising 
productivity, reducing barriers into work and supporting people into sustainable 
employment.

                                                            
1 Welsh Government Policy Statement on Skills, January 2014

Pack Page 56



4

In our Science for Wales2 strategy, we highlight the importance of STEM skills at all 
levels.  The strategy’s Increasing the Science and Engineering Talent Pool chapter 
notes the essential nature of these skills in developing a prosperous and sustainable 
knowledge economy.

A central ambition of the Welsh Government is to build a stronger economy.  
A sound and vibrant scientific and technological base has substantial 
potential to boost the economy, through advanced ideas, skills and 
developments and an effective translation through innovation to more high 
quality jobs. Science for Wales, 2012

The National Assembly for Wales’ Enterprise and Business Committee3 (EBC) 
follow-up inquiry into STEM skills (2014) called for “a more strategic and joined-up 
approach to interventions in the different STEM subjects, based on greater 
understanding and evaluation of their impact”.  It recognised the scale of the 
challenge across education settings and society to bring about the cultural change 
necessary for positive, gender-neutral perceptions of STEM.

Wales needs to strive for excellence in STEM right through the pipeline –
from the curriculum and qualifications offered in primary and secondary 
schools, in colleges and universities, through careers advice and work 
experience, and into meaningful and sustainable employment.

STEM Skills, Enterprise and Business Committee, 2014 

The Committee called for a coherent plan for the promotion, monitoring and 
evaluation of STEM enrichment activity through the National Science Academy 
(NSA), the Department for Education and Skills (DfES), and Department for 
Economy, Science and Transport (DEST). This Plan sets out how EBC 
recommendations are being driven forward, while capturing work on the 
development of STEM skills through curriculum and qualifications change, 
practitioner professional learning and support programmes. It remains focused on 
actions that relate to STEM skills development, while recognising the essential 
nature of literacy and numeracy as key to successful STEM skills attainment.  

Access to robust STEM performance data and impact analysis is critical to informing 
programme development and system monitoring.  This is even more so at a time of 
increasing budgetary pressure.  Section 2, therefore, sets out upfront how this will be 
developed over the year ahead and communicated with stakeholders.  

                                                            
2 http://gov.wales/topics/businessandeconomy/csaw/publications/130319sfw/?lang=en
3 http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=2225

Pack Page 57



5

Our priority is for the collation, analysis and reporting of progress 
against key indicators over time.  This will provide the information 
essential for STEM policy and programme development, and system-
wide monitoring, including the earlier identification of potential barriers 
to the flow of STEM skills.  

In Section 3, we detail actions to deliver increased uptake and development of STEM 
skills through the evolution of teaching and learning across education and training 
settings. Major curriculum and qualifications reforms are key elements of this, 
supported through our revised strategic approach to supporting curriculum 
enrichment activity. However, the essential underlying support to develop 
practitioner skills, knowledge and access to fit-for-purpose bilingual teaching 
resources is given equal prominence.

Our priority is to evolve the teaching and learning undertaken in our 
schools, colleges and universities in a way that supports the 
development of STEM skills by our young people to meet their, and 
employer, needs in the 21st century.  

Our priority is for our STEM related qualifications in Wales be of a 
standard comparable with the rest of the UK and the best in the world.  

Our priority is for the long-term, self-sustaining, system-wide 
development of an education workforce in Wales capable of delivering 
a new and challenging STEM curriculum.    

The impact of putting the building blocks in place to deliver excellence in STEM skills 
will be restricted unless this is matched by a notable shift in the perception of STEM.  
Attitudes towards STEM are often based in deep-rooted societal stereotypes, which 
become a barrier to progression into rewarding careers and further learning.  Section 
4 recognises the need for sustained effort in this area, and sets out measures 
targeted at practitioners, pupils and their parents.        

Our priority is to increase interest and participation in STEM learning, 
particularly with girls. 

Our priority is to equip our young people with career management skills 
and knowledge of the options available to them in the STEM sector, so 
they are able to make better informed decisions on their futures.  

Pack Page 58



6

2. Building the evidence base

This section sets out actions to track, understand and report STEM in education and 
training, analysis of trends, and impacts of intervention and support programmes.  

Our priority is for the collation, analysis and reporting of progress 
against key indicators over time.  This will provide the information 
essential for STEM policy and programme development, and system-
wide monitoring, including the earlier identification of potential barriers 
to the flow of STEM skills.  

Activities set out in the subsequent sections of this Plan rely on the results of robust 
analytical and reporting work.  Work in this area informs the delivery of meaningful 
STEM learning and enrichment opportunities through the more effective allocation of 
finite resources.  It will also ensure that all STEM stakeholders have access to the 
same information base to inform their planning processes in support of STEM skills.  

Work on the systematic collation, analysis and reporting of STEM progress also 
highlights areas in our intelligence base that may require further investigative work.  
Plans to plug such potential ‘gaps’ are also set out in this section, alongside 
measures to more routinely communicate progress and key issues / findings.  

Labour Market Intelligence (LMI) is being increasingly used as part of the evidence 
base, drawing on a range of analysis including some of the key outputs by the UK 
Commission for Employment and Skills (UKCES).  This includes the Employer Skills 
Survey and the Working Futures series of employment projections.  This information 
is being better communicated to learners through CareersWales online, as set out in 
Section 4.2 of this Plan.  

The EBC’s report highlights high levels of STEM education and training activity, but 
notes that progress in STEM skills attainment has remained too slow.  Analysis of 
Wales’ STEM-related performance in the international 3-yearly PISA comparisons, 
for example, shows that challenges remain for the development of the mathematical 
and scientific literacy abilities of our 15 year-olds.  As set out in this Plan, these 
indicators have been analysed in depth, with the results of that informing curriculum 
and qualifications change (plus support and teacher development programmes) to 
ensure the flow of STEM skills improves.       

The Committee’s report also references the change in focus necessary to ensure the 
STEM needs of our young people are met through curriculum and qualifications
change, as opposed to what might be seen as in the short- term interests of schools.  
We need to ensure that appropriate balance is maintained in the nature of 
qualifications offered our young people, and that no artificial barriers are introduced 
to their progression in STEM subjects.  As set out in this Plan, measures to track and 
report information on school level Key Stage 4 local curriculum offers, linked to the 
new science suite of qualifications in particular, are being introduced.  Local 
authorities and our education Consortia will, consequently, be better placed to work 
with schools to ensure learners have access to what they need to progress in STEM.     

Pack Page 59



7

2.1 Collation and reporting of data 

There is strong evidence of growing demand from employers for STEM graduates 
and skills.  Data published by the CBI suggests that 72% of all UK businesses rely 
on people with STEM skills and that 53% of employers expect problems recruiting 
STEM technicians and graduates in the next three years (CBI, 2014). It is estimated 
that by 2022, one in five new jobs in the UK will be STEM jobs (Working Futures 
2012-2022).  

Demand for STEM-related skills in Wales is being assessed through Regional 
Learning Partnership skills plans. A timeline is also in place for developing Supply 
and Demand plans for September 2015, working with the Regional Learning 
Partnerships.

At present, school-related high level indicators are routinely published, including 
teacher assessment data at the end of key stages and qualifications attainment.  In 
analysing performance, our emphasis will be on ensuring that no artificial barriers 
exist for learner progression in STEM, so that our education system better meets the 
demand for STEM skills summarised above.  This requires a more detailed analysis 
of performance by STEM-related qualification type (and any potential gender-related 
imbalances) to ensure any ‘over-application’ of qualifications that do not facilitate 
progression is avoided.  To reinforce our emphasis in this area, communication will 
take place direct with key stakeholders, the publication of data, and through annual 
Ministerial statements on progress.         

IN SUMMARY: OUR ACTIONS

WE HAVE

 Published annually key science and mathematics data, covering, for example, 
teacher assessment of learner progress at the end of the Foundation Phase, 
Key Stages 2 and 3, and attainment at Key Stage 4 and AS / A levels.

 Ensured that attainment and progression data at key stages is available on the 
basis of gender and eligibility for Free School Meals (eFSM).4

 Initiated work on accessing and collating relevant Labour Market Intelligence
and employer skills needs to inform policy, alongside key educational 
attainment data.5

 Worked with UKCES to disseminate the employment projections included in the 
Working Futures series of reports, and commissioned a summary report for 
Wales from Working Futures 2012-22.6

 Implemented a range of Skills Performance Measures which provide the basis 
for delivering our ambition for skills in Wales and the changes needed in 
response to the Policy Statement on Skills.  Specifically, the measure on 
equality and equity will be used to monitor equality of opportunity for individuals 
in accessing post-19 employment and skills support.7

                                                            
4

Relates to Recommendation 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
5

Relates to Recommendation 10 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
6 Relates to Recommendation 10 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
7 Relates to Recommendations 10 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 

Pack Page 60



8

WE WILL

 Develop with stakeholders the details of an annual data report for first 
publication in 2016, so that all stakeholders have access to a single reference 
source for STEM in education progress in Wales to inform planning and 
monitoring arrangements.8  

 From 2016, alongside the data report, publish an annual Ministerial statement 
on developments in STEM education and training in Wales.  This will highlight 
the sustained emphasis on STEM skills development, areas of progress, and 
key issues for stakeholders as the focus of future work.9

 Monitor trends and projections on future employment levels in STEM 
occupations and skills needs through Working Futures and the Employer Skills 
Survey, so that the data can be used to inform both STEM education and 
training provision, and robust careers information to learners system-wide.10

 Improve the availability and use of STEM-related Labour Market Intelligence in 
Wales (such as through the Skills Gateway, the Learning and Skills 
Observatory website, and CareersWales online) to enable key decision makers, 
and all young people, access to appropriately presented information in STEM 
employment opportunities.11

2.2 Further research and analysis

In addition to the development and production of national STEM skills data, research 
or other analytical work will need to be undertaken to better understand specific 
issues regarding the teaching and learning of STEM skills.  Such analysis will directly 
inform future support, guidance, and delivery programmes.  

In many respects, specific actions in this area will flow from changes in STEM 
performance over time.  Whether data is showing progress (or the lack thereof) the 
information below sets the framework through which additional analysis work will be 
reviewed and managed.  It also includes specific actions we have already identified 
to help decision-makers and wider stakeholders better understand issues behind 
performance. In addition to specific commissioning, work will also continue to take 
place through engagement with key STEM stakeholder organisations operating in 
Wales, and the capturing of their views on performance issues.  

To oversee the day-to-day work in this area, and the Plan as a whole, we have 
established an internal Welsh Government cross-Departmental STEM in Education 
and Training Group, with the Chief Scientific Adviser for Wales as Chair.12  The 
Group will report progress to Ministers.

                                                            
8

Relates to Recommendations 7, 10 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
9

Relates to Recommendations 7, 10 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
10

Relates to Recommendation 10 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
11 Relates to Recommendation 6 and 10 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
12 Relates to Recommendation 1 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 

Pack Page 61



9

IN SUMMARY: OUR ACTIONS

WE HAVE

 Undertaken an evaluation of the Numeracy Employer Engagement Programme, 
to capture lessons learned on the management of school-employer links and 
inform the development of the Enhanced Employer Engagement project.13

 Ensured that Wales’ PISA mathematics and scientific literacy results have been 
analysed to capture trends in areas of content, context or assessment 
approaches that Welsh 15 year-olds do well in, or have shown difficulty in 
accessing correctly.  This is already informing the content of classroom 
resources in support of the new GCSE qualifications, and advisory support 
being delivered by regional Consortia for these new qualifications.

 Analysed science Key Stage 4 qualification take-up on the basis of qualification 
type, including the impact of BTEC science in recent years, against other 
science qualification options so that informed decisions could be made on 
revisions to KS4 performance measures and negative impact on progression in 
science could be better tracked.

 Undertaken in 2014 a survey of science practitioners on curriculum, 
assessment and teacher support issues to inform further support 
development.14  

 Established a termly networking group between Welsh Government officials 
and the three science Learned Societies and Association of Science Education, 
to formalise dialogue on school science curriculum and qualifications 
development.

 Undertaken and distributed to schools via education Consortia a detailed 
analysis of the 2015 OECD Scientific Literacy framework against the current 
suite of Key Stage 4 science qualifications.  Schools need to better understand 
the differences between current science learning and the PISA assessment so 
they can minimise exposing pupils to uncovered assessment content.   

 Introduced a network of three Regional Skills Partnerships, tasked with 
identifying and responding to their regional economic priorities.  

WE WILL

 Over the year ahead, engage and consult with Welsh-medium stakeholder 
organisations on the progress of this Plan, so their views can better inform 
support programmes.15

 Introduce measures to assess the performance of sixth forms, colleges and 
work-based learning providers in relation to the qualifications achieved by their 
learners.

 Undertake a follow-up survey with science practitioners, including increased 
input from Welsh-medium schools, to inform future support programmes 
following the introduction of the new GCSE science suite in September 2016.16  

                                                            
13

Relates to Recommendation 4 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 
14

Relates, in part, to Recommendation 13 of the EBC Inquiry Report
15 Relates to Recommendation 13 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 
16 Relates to Recommendation 13 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 

Pack Page 62



10

 Commission a detailed analysis of PISA 2015 attainment in science and 
mathematics (with scientific literacy being the major domain), following 
publication of the headline results in December 2016.  This will identify areas of 
context and content where Welsh learners do not perform as well consequently 
informing future curriculum development and application in schools.  

 Undertake by December 2015 further analysis of the apparent disparity in 
gender performance in mathematics between current GCSE and PISA 
assessments, as recommended by Estyn.  Better understanding of possible 
gender-based impact from different assessment types will inform future 
assessment arrangements in Wales.17

 Explore over the year ahead whether future skills projections can be 
meaningfully matched against existing post-16 learning provision, to ensure 
that we have people in the right pipeline to meet future demand.18

 Task the three Regional Skills Partnerships to publish annual plans detailing 
the supply / demand conditions for skills locally to correspond with their regional 
economic priorities.19

 Consider by December 2015 options for a review of student numbers by 
subject and occupational area in the FE sector, so we can better understand 
the balance of FE provision against national priorities.20

                                                            
17

Relates to Recommendation 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 
18

Relates to Recommendation 10 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 
19 Relates to Recommendation 10 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
20 Relates to Recommendation 10 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report

Pack Page 63



11

3. Supporting teaching and learning

We know that the need for STEM skills in Wales, and the exciting career 
opportunities they unlock for our young people, will continue as our economy 
continues to grow.  We also know how important those skills are in underpinning our 
future economic growth.

Our priority is to evolve the teaching and learning undertaken in our 
schools, colleges and universities in a way that supports the 
development of STEM skills by our young people to meet their, and 
employer, needs in the 21st century.  

Already in 2015, we have seen publication of key documents setting out radical new 
proposals for changes to our education system in Wales.  Professor Graham 
Donaldson’s report, Successful Futures21, suggests a vision for the future of 
education in our schools.  It is telling that it sets the development of STEM skills from 
age 3 to 16 front and centre, recognising their importance in an increasingly science 
and technology driven world.  From the proposed Purposes of the Curriculum, the 
cross-curricula Digital Competency Framework, through to the six Areas of Learning 
and Experience (two of which specifically relate to STEM), areas around science, 
technology, ICT/computing and mathematical and numerical development are clearly 
recognised.  Critically, it also captures the findings of the ICT Steering Group22, 
reflecting how important work in this area is in equipping our young people with the 
skills they need to succeed in a lifetime we can only imagine.  A point also clearly 
communicated by the EBC in its 2014 report.

Successful Futures also highlights the essential nature of pedagogical development 
and that Wales’ education practitioners need the skills and knowledge necessary to 
be able to deliver a new curriculum.  This is nowhere more important than in the 
STEM field, where we know from global research that the subject knowledge of 
teachers (in areas such as mathematics and science) is a direct factor in learner 
attainment.  Professor John Furlong’s report, Teaching Tomorrow’s Teachers23, 
presents the Welsh Government with a series of options to better prepare our new 
teachers for a 21st century curriculum through changes to Initial Teacher Training.  
When read alongside the Minister for Education and Skills’ statement on the New 
deal for the education workforce24 (16 March 2015), a coherent approach emerges.

Our priority is for the long-term, self-sustaining, system-wide 
development of an education workforce in Wales capable of delivering 
a new and challenging STEM curriculum.    

                                                            
21

http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/schoolshome/curriculuminwales/curriculum-for-
wales/?lang=en

22 http://learning.wales.gov.uk/resources/browse-all/ict-steering-groups-report/?lang=en
23 http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/wagreviews/teaching-tomorrows-

teachers/?lang=en
24

http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2015/newdealeducation/?lang=en

Pack Page 64



12

A new approach to curriculum, assessment, professional learning and initial teacher 
training will take time to consider and implement.  We need to get it right, while 
continuing to drive improvements through existing curriculum arrangements (such as 
recent revisions to the mathematics programmes of study).  Rapid progress in 
introducing a new STEM-related curriculum, without the essential underpinning 
teacher development to ensure their readiness to deliver, would be counter-
productive.

Practitioners and key stakeholders are being engaged both formally (through the 
Great Debate on Welsh Education25) and informally to develop Government thinking 
on the way forward.  Their sustained engagement and support is as critical now as it 
will be throughout the process of reform.  It is they who will deliver the STEM skills 
we need for the future.

STEM qualifications gained in Wales also need to reflect our approach to the 
teaching and learning of STEM set above, while remaining portable for the learner.  
Through STEM qualifications gained in Wales, our young people should be able to 
study and work wherever is best for them.  

Our priority is for our STEM related qualifications in Wales be of a 
standard comparable with the rest of the UK and the best in the world.  

In taking this priority forward, we have retained and are in the process of 
strengthening our STEM-related GCSEs and A levels in Wales, in addition to a more 
rigorous Welsh Baccalaureate.  The introduction of two new mathematics GCSEs for 
first teaching from September this year, for example, has signalled clearly the 
emphasis we place on fit for purpose STEM related qualifications.  

For vocational qualifications, we are ensuring the relevance, value and rigour of 
qualifications in receipt of public funding.  The Review of Qualifications26 highlighted 
that assessment must be robust, valid, appropriate and proportionate, with the value 
and currency of qualifications being largely dependent on the extent to which they 
are recognised and understood.  We are now engaged in a programme of UK-wide 
communication to explain and raise the profile of qualifications in Wales, particularly 
with Higher Education Institutions.

The actions to support the teaching and learning of STEM skills set out in this 
section are the core focus of this Plan.  They are wide-ranging, covering issues such 
as curriculum design, qualifications development, STEM enrichment, and support to 
enhance the skills and knowledge of practitioners.

[Drafting Note:  Successful Futures, Teaching Tomorrow’s Teachers and the 
New deal for the education workforce present proposals for unprecedented 
change across the education landscape in Wales.  It is essential that 
individuals at every level of our education system have the opportunity to 
reflect on what these proposals mean for them – and for those views to be 
captured and considered.  That process is underway.

                                                            
25 http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/great-debate/?lang=en
26 http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/qualificationsinwales/revofqualen/?lang=en

Pack Page 65



13

The Welsh Government’s responses to proposals set out in the two reports 
will take place before the finalisation of this draft Plan (and may happen during 
the EBC’s consideration, depending on when that is scheduled).  This section, 
including relevant sub-sections below, will be amended to reflect those 
responses and decisions during this period.    

At this point, the priority for enhancing digital skills development in schools
(as expressed by the ICT Steering Group, stressed by the EBC, and reinforced 
by Successful Futures) is very much recognised by the Welsh Government].  

3.1 Developing fit-for-purpose STEM curricula 

An engaging and inspirational curriculum in STEM subjects is the essential core to 
STEM skills and knowledge development in schools.  

Our priority for the evolution of 21st century STEM teaching and learning is 
embedded in our emphasis on ensuring we have the right STEM curricula in Wales.  
It is the curriculum followed by schools and colleges that provides our young people 
with the subject knowledge they need to attain STEM qualifications for their 
progression into further learning and the world of work.  It is also the curriculum, 
delivered through great teaching, which provides the space and guidance necessary 
for the development of the enquiry, reasoning and practical skills essential to STEM.  
In instances where a young person does not intend to go on to further STEM-related 
learning or work, the skills they develop through a well-taught STEM curriculum are 
still widely recognised as applicable in preparing them for employment opportunities 
and the life ahead.  

Our work prioritising numerical skills in Wales is, encouragingly, resulting in a 
growing sense of value around mathematics.  However, it is also essential that all 
our young people leave school with stronger scientific literacy27 if they are to 
succeed in their lives.  

IN SUMMARY: OUR ACTIONS

WE HAVE

 Introduced on a statutory basis revised Areas of Learning and programmes of 
study for mathematics, so that our expectations for literacy and numeracy, as 
expressed through the Literacy and Numeracy Framework (LNF), better align to 
our mathematics curriculum. 

 Undertaken an independent review of the curriculum and assessment 
arrangements for Wales – which takes STEM skills development into account.28

 Engaged all stakeholders in the Great Debate on Welsh Education to enable 
STEM practitioners and stakeholders to respond to the curriculum and 
assessment review’s report, Successful Futures.29  

                                                            
27 OECD PISA Draft Scientific Literacy Framework, 2015
28 Relates to Recommendations 2 and 3 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report

Pack Page 66



14

 Maintained ICT as a statutory subject in Welsh schools at Key Stages 2 and 3 
and as part of the non-statutory Skills Framework for 3-19 year olds.   

 Introduced Learning Programmes for 16 to 19 year-olds which provide greater 
focus on courses that employers and universities value, such as STEM 
subjects, and which offer industry-relevant curriculum and work experience.30

WE WILL

 Respond by July 2015 to the recommendations in Successful Futures, following 
practitioner and wider stakeholder feedback through the Great Debate on 
Welsh Education.31

 Work closely with STEM practitioners and key organisations over the year(s) 
ahead, such as the Learned Societies and Association for Science Education, 
in developing a fit for the 21st century STEM related curriculum across primary 
and secondary settings in Wales.32

 Consider closely practitioner and stakeholder views on the need for a digital 
competency framework and the proposed ICT/computing elements of the 
Science and Technology Area of Learning and Experience (as recommended in 
Successful Futures), and move swiftly this year on resulting decisions.33

 Refresh our National Literacy and Numeracy Programmes in the autumn to 
ensure continued cross-curricula development (including through the provision 
of science, technology and mathematics).34   

3.2 Enhancing and enriching the STEM curriculum

Global research suggests that the STEM skills and knowledge developed through 
formal education is enhanced through the provision of STEM enrichment activities 
for young people.  It is difficult to unpack the direct impact of a particular intervention 
on knowledge attainment or attitudinal change (leading to STEM career choices).  
However, as a consequence of wider understanding and our priority on the teaching 
and learning of STEM skills (page 11), support must continue for high-quality and 
relevant STEM enrichment opportunities.  And in a time of challenging budgetary 
pressures (as referenced on page 6) provision must be targeted in a more strategic 
way, in line with identified priorities.  

Our emphasis on girls in STEM is explored in more detail in Section 4, and our key 
educational priority to narrow the gap in educational attainment based on socio-
economic status clearly feeds through in our support for STEM enrichment.  For 
example, we know that young people from disadvantaged communities are less 
likely to engage in extra-curricula activities, or participate in experiences likely to 
inspire them into further STEM related study or work.    

                                                                                                                                                                                            
29

Relates to Recommendation 3 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
30

Relates to recommendation 5 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 
31

Relates to Recommendation 3 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
32

Relates to Recommendations 2 and 3 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 
33 Relates to Recommendation 3 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 
34 Relates to Recommendation 2 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report

Pack Page 67



15

Last year the Chief Scientific Adviser for Wales commissioned a strategic review of 
the NSA and STEM enrichment and inspirational learning. The review aimed to build 
on our strengths with the intention of examining long-term stable support for 
programmes.35  A key element of the emerging strategy is a focus on achieving our 
defined aims.  These include work to positively influence our young people between 
the ages of 9 to 14, recognising this period as crucial to when they decide to pursue 
STEM subjects and a future career in STEM.  The strategy will also build on the 
successes reaped from commendable, high-performance NSA projects, with the 
most successful projects in terms of impact being invited to apply for further longer-
term funding.36  NSA funding has resulted, for example, in a higher percentage being 
awarded a CREST Award, compared to the rest of the UK.  

[Drafting Note:  As with curriculum reform, NSA review announcements and 
related future funding will likely take place during the period of the 
Committee’s reflection on this draft.  The narrative and actions in this sub-
section will be updated to reflect those decisions, prior to finalising the Plan]

IN SUMMARY: OUR ACTIONS

WE HAVE

 Continued grant funding for the successful Further Mathematics Support 
Programme Wales, to better support the flow of higher order mathematics skills 
with increasing emphasis on girls’ progression and teacher professional 
learning support.37

 Grant funded £1.755 million to Techniquest and Techniquest Glyndŵr to 
provide science and mathematics enrichment for primary and secondary pupils
and charged the organisations with priorities to enhance girls’ progression in 
physics and mathematics, and target provision at disadvantaged 
communities.38

 Agreed with the European Commission that the new ESF programme in West 
Wales and the Valleys has a Specific Objective for the development of STEM 
skills amongst 11-19 year olds, to reflect the need for greater funding for 
activities in these areas.39  

 Provided NSA grant funding to support a number of universities in Wales to 
enhance STEM provision in schools – for example: GCSE science revision 
courses; support for year 10 and 12 students in bioscience, computing, 
geography, mathematics and physics; and enhancing the provision of computer 
science teaching for 3 to 19-year-olds.40  

 Through the NSA, grant funded the three science Learned Societies to provide 
a range of projects focused both on primary and secondary schools.41

 Provided NSA grant funding for a range of projects with wider STEM 
organisations, including work with young people at risk of becoming NEET; 

                                                            
35

Relates to Recommendations 1, 2 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 
36

Relates to recommendations 2 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 
37

Relates to Recommendations 7 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
38

Relates to Recommendations 2, 7 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
39

Relates to Recommendations 2 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
40 Relates to Recommendations 2,  4 and 7 of the EBC STEM inquiry Report 
41 Relates to Recommendations  2,  4 and 7 of the EBC STEM inquiry Report

Pack Page 68



16

theatre performances to children and parents; and STEM workshops and 
teacher professional development.42

 Involved STEM enrichment partners, including See Science, Techniquest and 
EESW, in supporting the Schools Challenge Cymru Pupil Offer.43

 Grant funded the Innovation Awards scheme for students studying WJEC 
Design and Technology at GCSE, AS and A level to promote a culture of 
innovation linked to STEM skills development. Over 2,500 teachers and 
learners attend the events.44

WE WILL

 Over the next three years, continue grant funding through the NSA ensuring 
activities are targeted on the priorities agreed through the NSA review [dn -
details to be added], and a longer-term view is taken on funding strategically 
aligned project activity.45

 Continue to grant fund Techniquest and Techniquest Glyndŵr, with specific 
strategic objectives to enhance girls’ progression and target disadvantaged 
communities.46

 Consider, by December 2015, options for the development of the Further 
Mathematics Support Programme Wales, and how this can be rolled out for 
coverage Wales-wide from April 2016 ensuring more learners are supported to 
develop their higher order maths skills.47

3.3 Introducing fit-for-the future STEM qualifications  

The Review of Qualifications for 14 to 19-year-olds in Wales ensured that we have 
qualifications that are understood and valued and meet the needs of our young 
people and the Welsh economy.  Following wide consultation, the recommendations 
accepted in January 2013 inform the development of STEM-related qualifications, 
such as revised mathematics GCSEs.  

The two new GCSEs in Mathematics-Numeracy and Mathematics will be introduced
for first teaching from September 20115, at the same time as the revised maths 
Areas of Learning and programmes of study become statutory. This links with our 
work in aligning the revised curriculum and qualifications with the Literacy and 
Numeracy Framework (LNF).  It also reflects our commitment to equip learners with 
the skills they need for functioning effectively in everyday life and employment; skills 
that will meet the needs of our young people and the economy.

                                                            
42

Relates to Recommendations 2, 4, 7 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
43

Relates to Recommendations  2, 4 and 11 of the EBC STEM inquiry Report
44

Relates to Recommendations  2 and 4 of the EBC STEM inquiry Report
45

Relates to Recommendations 2, 4, 7 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
46 Relates to Recommendations 2, 7 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
47 Relates to Recommendations 7 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report

Pack Page 69



17

IN SUMMARY: OUR ACTIONS

WE HAVE

 Introduced, for teaching from September 2015, two new mathematics GCSEs, 
one covering numeracy and the other covering aspects of mathematics 
techniques, in line with the Review of Qualifications recommendations. 

 Reformed the Welsh Baccalaureate for first teaching from September 2015, 
which gives the opportunity to develop skills through Challenges and an 
Individual Project.  We have also overseen publication of related Specifications, 
SAMs, and guidance for practitioners; which highlight how STEM can be pivotal 
to the Challenges and the Individual Project.48

 Consulted closely with stakeholders on the composition and content for 
changes to the science GCSEs suite, and issued guidance to WJEC for the 
development of this suite of qualifications.

 Accredited revised GCE AS and A level science qualifications for Wales, as 
well as revised GCE AS and A Level qualifications in Computer Science, to 
maintain qualifications comparability and portability, while responding to the 
needs of Higher Education.

 Categorised all vocational qualifications as IVET (Initial Vocational Education 
and Training) or CVET (Continuing Vocational Education and Training) to 
determine their appropriateness for teaching pre-16.

 Invested in Higher Apprenticeships to support frameworks associated with 
STEM subjects.

WE WILL

 Strengthen the vocational gateway with the introduction of Sector Qualifications 
Advisory Panels (SQAPs) to ensure that only those vocational qualifications 
which are valued by employers in the sector are accredited for use in Wales.

 Accredit the revised GCSE science suite of qualifications in Autumn 2015, for 
first teaching from September 2016, to take into account scientific literacy 
principles and better facilitate progression to the revised A level science suite.

 Reform GCE AS and A levels in mathematics and Further Mathematics in 
Wales for first teaching from 2017, to facilitate progression from the new 
mathematics GCSEs and retain the portability of our A levels. 

 Review responses to the consultation on Aligning the apprenticeship model to 
the needs of the Welsh economy in seeking to build a strong STEM offer within 
the context of apprenticeship delivery, and ensure that apprenticeships have 
market relevance.  

3.4 Advice, guidance and teacher support 

Practitioners across all educational settings value fit-for-purpose advice, guidance 
and professional learning support which positively impacts their teaching and 
learning in the classroom.  Effective teachers ensure good learning outcomes for 
their pupils and students.  

                                                            
48 Relates to Recommendations 4 and 5 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report

Pack Page 70



18

As noted on page 11, our priority to support our education workforce in their 
professional development is linked to the capacity of delivering the new and 
challenging STEM curriculum and qualifications arrangements set out in Sections 3.1 
and 3.3.    

Global studies49 into what makes great teaching highlight six components which 
have a demonstrable benefit on learner outcomes.  Within these, the content 
knowledge of teachers is clearly highlighted as a strong factor.  We are, therefore, 
emphasising measures to address the STEM subject specific knowledge of our 
practitioners, particularly in areas such as physics, ICT/computing and mathematics.  

Alongside this, the quality of instruction provided has been highlighted as the other 
strong factor which impacts on learner outcomes.  Effective questioning skills and 
techniques are a key element; an issue which has featured in the support now 
available in Wales (for example) on the development of numerical reasoning skills in 
primary and secondary settings.  Other areas of great teaching cited in the report 
include classroom management and teacher behavioural approaches, all of which 
are captured in the focus on pedagogy in wider professional learning development.     

In taking forward our priority to support STEM practitioners’ skills and knowledge, the 
New deal for the education workforce is a critical.  Through career-long reflection 
and development of practice, STEM teachers will access a structured entitlement to 
high-quality programmes and development opportunities.  A number of STEM 
stakeholder organisations in Wales already provide a high level of professional 
learning support, and we will work with those organisations to enhance emphasis on 
access and availability, linked to agreed standards.

The Welsh Government has also provided a range of guidance to schools in STEM 
related areas, including on forward changes to KS4 performance measures.  Linked 
to our priority to increase the flow of STEM skills, from 2017 performance measures 
will place greater emphasis on a revised capped points score, including an increased 
requirement for mathematics and science study.  These changes will reduce the 
focus on the C/D borderline and create greater incentive for schools to stretch all 
pupils to achieve their full potential, including the more able and talented. 

In Wales the term ‘more able and talented’ (MAT) is used to describe learners who 
display abilities in one or more areas beyond normal expectations, and require 
enriched and extended opportunities across the curriculum in order to develop and 
build on those abilities.  In our priority to increase the flow of STEM skills in Wales, it 
is essential that we nurture and inform our MAT learners.  

Our guidance Meeting the Challenge - Quality Standards in Education for More Able 
and Talented Pupils encourages schools to discuss their interpretation of MAT and 
to come to an agreed definition within the context of their own setting.  Guidance is 
focused on building approaches on a whole-school basis, with consequent links to 
school development plans.  The need to stretch, enthuse and respond to the learning 
needs of our more able and talent learners is directly relevant to STEM skills 
acquisition.

                                                            
49 What makes great teaching?, Sutton Trust, 2014

Pack Page 71



19

One of the outcomes of the Oxbridge Ambassador’s report50 into under-
representation of Welsh students in leading universities has been the establishment 
of the Seren Network.  The Seren Network is being established to support high 
achieving students reach their academic potential and progress to the most 
competitive universities in the UK.  Each partnership hub will introduce a programme 
of super-curricular academic support, designed to stretch and challenge high 
achieving students with increased emphasis on higher order STEM skills.

IN SUMMARY: OUR ACTIONS

WE HAVE

 Published a guide on the OECD 2015 scientific literacy framework, and an 
online bilingual INSET module including filmed classroom content, so teachers 
better understand scientific literacy and its relevance to all learners.51

 Introduced a specific education Consortia-based advisory function for schools 
in science and mathematics, to support GCSE qualifications change and 
understanding the teaching and learning of PISA skills.52

 Published for primary and secondary schools, science infographics and 
curriculum planners, and a Spotlight on STEM Guide for careers, so teachers
and learners have better access to up to date facts about STEM career 
opportunities and support programmes.53

 Funded a pilot of the Institute of Physics Stimulating Physics Network in Wales,
providing mentoring support for non-specialist teachers of physics to improve 
their skills and knowledge, and girls’ progression to A level study.54  

 Charged Techniquest and Techniquest Glyndŵr to enhance their teacher 
professional learning offer in science and mathematics, through the agreement 
of a specific objective for their DfES grant funding, so practitioners can access 
relevant, high quality, professional learning locally.55  

 Facilitated fully-funded professional learning for Welsh physics teachers at 
CERN in Switzerland, so teachers experience cutting-edge global research, 
and learn how to use that in their science teaching.56  

 Enhanced the delivery of ICT and computer coding in schools through funding 
workshops for pupils and teachers in every secondary school in Wales.57

 Delivered a national conference for secondary Heads of Mathematics to share 
good practice and effective approaches for mathematics pedagogy.58

 Charged the Mathematics Task and Finish Group to consider how the quality 
and quantity of maths teachers can be enhanced and develop an Action Plan.59  

                                                            
50 http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/learningproviders/oxbridge-project/oxbridge-final-

report/?lang=en
51 Relates to Recommendation 7 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
52 Relates to Recommendation 7 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
53

Relates to Recommendation 4 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
54

Relates to Recommendations 7 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
55

Relates to Recommendation 7 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
56

Relates to Recommendation 7 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
57

Relates to Recommendations 3 and 7 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
58 Relates to Recommendation 7 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
59 Relates to Recommendation 7 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report

Pack Page 72



20

 Introduced Regulations to ensure the professional development needs of the 
school workforce form part of the school’s strategic development plan.60

 Continued to offer teacher training incentives for STEM graduates and career 
changers with a background in industry undertaking post-graduate initial 
teacher education and training courses.61  

 Placed more emphasis on the capped points score for monitoring KS4 
performance (requiring 2 mathematics and 2 science qualifications from 2017), 
impacting on work to develop the more able and talented (MAT) pupils. 

 Introduced standards and guidance to support schools to further develop 
provision for MAT pupils, as part of a whole-school improvement agenda. 

 Undertaken a review of provision for MAT learners aged 3-19 (including for 
STEM) to understand how they are identified, supported and challenged to 
inform future guidance and support arrangements.  

 Introduced three regional partnership hubs in the pilot phase of the Seren 
Network, to better support learner progression to top universities. 

WE WILL

 Update our current STEM guidance document for teachers in Spring 2016, in 
the light of Welsh Government decisions regarding Successful Futures.  This to 
include content on unconscious gender bias in STEM, building on findings of 
global research and work in Wales on ‘gender lensing’.62

 Publish throughout 2015/16, termly easy-access infographics on STEM, and 
expand the range of content on support available in primary and secondary 
settings to teachers are better able to access available programmes.

 Increase advisory support for science through the regional education Consortia 
from September 2015, so they are better able to support schools’ introduction 
of the new science GCSE suite for first teaching from September 2016.63

 Continue to promote the use of STEM Ambassadors in primary and secondary 
settings to the benefit of both teachers and learners.64

 Review and update guidance on delivery of Careers and the World of Work 
Curriculum framework, as part of enhancing school-employer links.65

 Expand from September 2015 the IoP’s Stimulating Physics Network 
programme in Wales to the same (pro-rata) level as England, so that more non-
specialist physics teachers have access to mentoring support, and we 
encourage more girls into A level physics study.66

 Through 2015/16 grant funding, require Techniquest and Techniquest Glyndŵr
to increase professional learning support to primary and secondary science and 
mathematics teachers so that Welsh teachers have access to quality
professional learning opportunities locally.67

                                                            
60 Relates to Recommendation 7 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 
61

Relates to Recommendations 3, 7 and 8 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
62

Relates to Recommendation 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
63

Relates to Recommendation 7 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
64

Relates to Recommendations 2, 7 and 8 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
65

Relates to Recommendation 8 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
66 Relates to Recommendations 7 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
67 Relates to Recommendations 7 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 

Pack Page 73



21

 Through the funding of workshops for pupils and teachers, ensure that every 
secondary school has one or more teacher with direct experience of working 
with code by 31 March 2016.68

 Continue to actively promote physics teacher professional development through 
fully funding opportunities at CERN, Switzerland so that more teachers have 
access to cutting edge research, and the impact on their teaching of science.69  

 Organise events in 2015 for primary mathematics teachers to share good 
practice and effective approaches for mathematics.

 Develop a range of provision that will underpin the New Deal for the Education 
Workforce (including a new Masters programme) to provide practitioners with 
access to the highest quality STEM professional learning opportunities.70

 Consider implementing recommendations contained in Teaching Tomorrow’s 
Teachers: Options for the future of Initial Teacher Education in Wales, including 
how the availability of training incentives supports STEM teacher recruitment.71

 Publish the findings of the Review to Identify Provision of More Able and 
Talented Learners in Wales in 2015, and revise current guidance and develop 
resources to support provision by practitioners and schools.

 Create further Seren Network hubs in 2015/16 to ensure support is available to 
all students in Wales, facilitating the flow of Welsh learners into the UK’s best 
universities.  And, through building links with partner STEM organisations (such 
as the Further Maths Support Programme Wales and the Engineering 
Education Scheme Wales) ensure that all students involved in Seren are aware 
of opportunities for higher STEM skills development at A level and beyond.

3.5 Provision of bilingual resources 

Practitioners in all education settings need good quality teaching resources that they 
can access easily and have confidence in.  It is essential, therefore, that in taking 
forward our priority to support STEM teachers, that our Welsh medium and bilingual 
schools are also well equipped to deliver STEM skills through the medium of Welsh, 
and that such resources are readily and easily available.  A point the EBC notes 
clearly in its 2014 report.  It is also important that the supply of Welsh-medium 
STEM-related teaching resources is maintained in line with practitioner demand.    
We will, therefore, regularly test with practitioners the availability of resources and 
their evolving needs going forward.

IN SUMMARY: OUR ACTIONS

WE HAVE72

 Published bilingual sample PISA scientific literacy and mathematics questions 
in .pdf format and as an interactive online resource for schools and colleges.

                                                            
68

Relates to Recommendations 3 and 7 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
69

Relates to Recommendations 4, 7 and 8 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
70

Relates to Recommendation 7 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
71 Relates to Recommendations 7 and 9 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 
72 Relates to Recommendation 14 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 

Pack Page 74



22

 Through the WJEC, published additional bilingual Specimen Assessment 
Materials (SAMs) for the new mathematics GCSEs.

 Produced new bilingual teaching resources (Teaching Assessment Materials –
TAMs) in support of the new mathematics GCSEs, together with an audit of 
existing resources relevant to the new qualifications, so that teachers have 
access to new materials in advance of teaching the new GCSE maths suite.

 Quality assured the bilingual science teaching materials available to schools 
online through Hwb across key stages, with a new category being created to 
simplify access. 

 Commissioned Techniquest and Techniquest Glyndŵr to produce KS4 science 
modules for outreach delivery targeted at the key areas (such as forces and 
motion, cells) identified through the analysis of existing KS4 qualifications and 
the OECD Scientific Literacy framework.

 Uploaded OPAL Project surveys on Hwb to download bilingual resources.
 Grant funded, through the NSA, a number of projects which include the 

development of bilingual STEM enrichment resource materials.  

WE WILL

 Commission in June 2015 further Welsh-medium resources for mathematics at 
KS3/4, for publication on Hwb, which will be appropriate for use in class or the 
home learning environment.

 Produce, via the WJEC, additional bilingual SAMs in support of the new 
science GCSE suite, in advance of first teaching from September 2016.

 Publish bilingual TAMs in advance of new science GCSE suite being 
introduced for first teaching in September 2016.

 Facilitate by September 2015 the establishment of Hwb Networks between 
education consortia to better capture, quality assure, and subsequently publish 
bilingually online (through Hwb) science and mathematics KS3/4 resources 
developed through local school-to-school working.

 Continue to commission relevant Welsh-medium print and digital resources to 
support STEM subjects, and to consult with teachers and other practitioners to 
identify the resources required. A Needs Identification Panel for Science, 
Engineering and Design and Technology will be held in June 2015, and a Panel 
for Mathematics will be held in Autumn 2015.

 Where appropriate, as an ongoing condition of grant, require future NSA grant 
recipients involved in the development of online materials/resources to also 
make those available through Hwb.

3.6 Wider ICT support

In addition to the specific actions highlighted above, we have brought forward wider 
measures which support STEM in education delivery, particularly around the use and 
application of digital technology. This work has built on the findings of the Digital 
Classroom Teaching Task and Finish Group (March 2012).  For example, the all-
Wales learning platform Hwb+ was launched in 2012, and has now been rolled out to 
over 99% of schools in Wales.  Hwb+ has been further complemented by an 
extensive suite of digital content resources and a wide range of e-Safety support 

Pack Page 75



23

materials and tools which have been made available through Hwb, the National 
Digital Content Repository. 

One of the major benefits of the Hwb+ platform is the integration of online tools; most 
notably Microsoft Office 365. Providing online tools via the national Hwb+ platform 
allows for a consistent approach across all schools and ensures that there is not a 
proliferation of different systems and protocols in place.  Microsoft Office 365 
provides a suite of free web applications, including Microsoft Word, Excel, 
PowerPoint and OneNote. While a large number of schools all over the world are 
already using Microsoft Office 365, we understand that Wales’ approach provides 
the first instance of an all-country tenancy. This approach facilitates national 
collaboration in a way that has previously been unfeasible.

These Welsh Government centrally-funded initiatives provide a wide range of 
financial and pedagogical benefits consistently across all schools in Wales.  
Importantly in a STEM context, through access and use of such tools teachers will 
develop new approaches to STEM teaching and learning as their own understanding 
and application of digital technology grows.  In support of this, we have already 
provided hands-on Hwb+ training to over 2,000 teachers through the extensive 
Hwb+ Digital Leader training programme.

IN SUMMARY: OUR ACTIONS

WE HAVE73

 Invested around £40 million to improve Wales’ digital infrastructure through the 
Learning in Digital Wales grant programme, providing improved broadband 
services for schools in Wales, so that all primary, special and secondary 
schools will have improved in-school and Internet connectivity.

 Developed the Hwb platform as a single resource, providing access to high-
quality digital resources for schools (including some very high-quality STEM 
material), and a single point of entry to a range of centrally-licenced tools. 
These tools provide schools with access to some of the latest in-classroom 
digital aides to support teaching and learning.

 Developed additional functionality for inclusion in Hwb, in conjunction with 
feedback from stakeholders. This includes:

 Hwb Networks – the facility to create online professional learning 
communities which exploit the collaboration technology built into Hwb.

 Hwb Community – an area on Hwb where practitioners can upload and 
share their digital resources with the wider Hwb community.

 An e-Safety zone hosted on Hwb which promotes safe and responsible 
use of all digital technology across Wales.

 Playlists – tools to sequence digital learning materials to support 
classroom activities in an engaging and interactive way.

                                                            
73 Relates to Recommendation 3 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report

Pack Page 76



24

WE WILL

 From April 2015 as part of an all-Wales implementation, use technology to link 
educators digitally in a way that has not previously been possible through areas 
such as Hwb Networks.

 Ensure computing remains a focus for STEM activities by HEFCW and 
universities in Wales, including work on employer accreditation.

 Continue to support the adoption of the digital tools and resources provided 
through the Learning in Digital Wales programme, building on the Ministerial 
commitment to the Hwb+ project until August 2018.

3.7 Developments in Higher Education 

The Higher Education Policy Statement (2013) and annual HEFCW remit letters 
make it clear that the science research agenda remains a high priority for the Welsh 
Government. HEFCW has a key role in building core research capacity and 
research excellence through its QR funding, and works with HE institutions in Wales 
to increase competitively won research and its exploitation. The 2015-16 remit letter 
requires the Funding Council to build upon its own research and that of others to 
address the shortfall in research scientists in Wales, especially in the areas of clinical 
medicine, engineering and other STEM subjects.  

Building on the excellent outcomes of the 2014 Research Excellence Framework 
(REF) assessment, HEFCW has been charged with promoting continued 
improvement in research performance through the development of stronger research 
environments, greater critical mass, and research excellence. Funding may also 
support the greater involvement of women in science and support for enhanced co-
operation between HEIs and schools to facilitate teacher and pupil understanding of 
STEM. STEM engagement will be co-ordinated with the activities of the NSA to 
achieve complementarity.  

The REF results confirm that there are very significant research strengths in Wales, 
but they also provide further evidence that Welsh universities suffer from a shortfall 
of researchers, particularly in the STEM disciplines.  HEFCW will continue to support 
initiatives to increase Wales’ research capacity in key areas of science, most 
critically the next phase of the Welsh Government’s Sêr Cymru programme. 

In addition to evidence of higher demand from employers for STEM-related skills, 
there is evidence also of growing demand for STEM subjects from undergraduate 
applicants.  UCAS figures show that the number of Welsh undergraduates accepted 
onto STEM-related courses has grown steadily from just under 7,000 students in 
2007 to over 8,700 students in 2014.

Pack Page 77



25

IN SUMMARY: OUR ACTIONS

WE HAVE74

 Through the 2014-15 remit letter to the Higher Education Funding Council for 
Wales (HEFCW), required it to take a whole-sector view of Welsh universities’ 
financial position, as well as each individual university.

 Asked HEFCW to review the funding support for subjects within universities, 
and the effect of the new tuition fee and student support arrangements 
introduced in 2012 on HEIs’ approaches to resource allocation.

 For 2015-16, required HEFCW to review its current funding formula. In doing 
so, the Funding Council has been asked to recognise the importance of part-
time HE, supporting Quality Research, and the funding of subjects that are 
expensive to operate (for example, medicine and dentistry).

 Set up an independent review of HE funding and student finance chaired by 
Professor Sir Ian Diamond, Vice-Chancellor of Aberdeen University. Support for 
STEM subjects is one of the issues being considered by the review, which will 
report in autumn 2016.  

WE WILL75

 During 2015-16, consider the views of HEFCW on what encouragement it 
should provide to the HE sector to ensure STEM provision in Wales is able to 
keep up with demand.  This in the light of the growing demand for highly-skilled 
graduates, and the potential returns for individuals in terms of future career 
prospects and earnings, which is fuelling a growth in demand for STEM 
provision.

 Consider the views of Professor Diamond, who is likely to make 
recommendations in his report about higher-level STEM skills funding and 
provision, and respond accordingly, in autumn 2016.

                                                            
74 Relates to Recommendation 9 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 
75 Relates to Recommendation 9 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report

Pack Page 78



26

4. Changing perceptions

Changing a person’s perception of STEM as an appropriate route for study, or field 
in which a career can be sought, is widely recognised as challenging.  Perceptions 
often involve outdated understanding of what study and work in STEM-related 
employment might involve.  This is influenced by a view of engineering, for example, 
based on out-dated heavy industry; or science and mathematics as appropriate only 
for the “bright geeky kids”.  Changing perceptions to recognise the reality of 
contemporary STEM often, therefore, involves attitudinal change from deeply 
embedded societal stereotypes.  

This is most certainly the case regarding the relevance of STEM to girls.  Despite 
some progress in gender-equity in some areas of STEM, emphasis needs to remain 
in areas such as physics, technology/computing and engineering.  

Our priority is to increase interest and participation in STEM learning, 
particularly with girls. 

As highlighted by the EBC through its Inquiry, this will require a sustained effort over 
time; plus the support and contribution of a wide range of STEM practitioners, 
stakeholders and civic society.  Those working in Wales’ education and training 
system have a key role to play in contributing to this necessary attitudinal change.  If 
we are to meet future demands for the STEM skills we know Wales needs for 
sustained economic growth, we need to increase the supply of STEM skills through 
greater numbers of young people pursuing STEM as an option.  To achieve that, we 
simply cannot ignore half the population.    

The provision of professional, impartial careers information advice and guidance 
(CIAG) is a key element in the development of young people’s education and future 
career choices over their lifetime.

Our priority is to equip our young people with career management 
skills and knowledge of the options available to them in the STEM 
sector, so they are able to make better informed decisions on their 
futures.  

The need also exists to disseminate and raise awareness of the wide range of career 
opportunities in different sectors, such as STEM, among parents and teachers, as 
key individuals who influence and guide young people on their journey into 
adulthood.  

This section, therefore, is concerned with changing perceptions and attitudes about 
STEM skills, careers and further learning with education leaders, teachers, children, 
young people and their parents – indeed, society at large.    

Pack Page 79



27

4.1 Reinforcing the importance of STEM  

There is evidence to suggest that some STEM subjects have received less priority in 
curriculum planning in some maintained schools in recent years.  The rapid increase 
in the application of certain vocational science qualifications, at the expense of more 
traditional GCSEs, has arguably been a factor in Wales’ declining performance in 
PISA scientific literacy.  This also impacts on the preparedness of young people for 
life in an increasingly science and technology driven world, and their ability to access 
the exciting and rewarding career opportunities afforded through STEM study.  

The essential emphasis on literacy, numeracy and narrowing the gap between 
attainment and socio-economic status as key priorities for schools, has to be 
maintained.  Emphasis on and development in these three areas is the key to 
unlocking greater progression and take-up in STEM.  However, as reflected on in 
Successful Futures, the increasing importance of STEM skills and knowledge as a 
means to accessing rewarding careers needs to be more widely recognised across 
the education landscape.            

The ongoing Making numbers count campaign is one of our key means of reducing 
people’s negative attitude towards mathematics.  All too often, people are heard 
saying “I can’t do maths”, to the extent that it is often socially acceptable.  Although 
people in Wales recognise they use mathematics on a daily basis, many express 
negative views about mathematics in front of their children.  Having a negative 
attitude towards number can readily transfer to children, resulting in poor numerical 
skills development.  The messages within this campaign focus on the need for all 
adults to be more confident when dealing and talking about mathematics.

Launched by the Minister for Education and Skills in October last year, our Focus on 
Science campaign is targeted at practitioners, learners and their parents.  It was 
developed in response to calls for greater emphasis on science in schools.  Although 
still in its early stages, the campaign is building momentum and a growing body of 
resources, information, case studies and role models, with the key themes that: 
science is valued, science is fun, and science is just as important for girls.  

IN SUMMARY: OUR ACTIONS

WE HAVE

 Linked the What you say counts and Focus on Science campaigns to the 
parent-focused Education begins at home campaign and Facebook page, 
promoting key messages about the importance of science and mathematics to 
learners, teachers and parents, via television, radio, and social media, and 
roadshows in Communities First areas.76

 Ensured that Focus on Science materials have been ‘gender lensed’, with an 
emphasis on girls in STEM, and worked closely with EESW in relation to 
promoting girls’ study of science (including case studies with Sony).77

                                                            
76 Relates to Recommendations 2, 4 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
77 Relates to Recommendation 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report

Pack Page 80



28

 Produced a range of narrative and video-based Focus on Science case studies, 
including with role models who have careers in science (Science takes you 
places) linked to key STEM enrichment activities and the campaign themes.78

 Promoted to all Welsh secondary schools via various media the 2015 CERN 
three-week summer school for physics teachers, and produced a video case 
study on the Welsh teacher group course at CERN in February 2015.79

 Developed (and funded), in conjunction with Pearson, a new category of 
‘Science Teacher of the Year’ for the UK national teacher awards, and 
sponsored the ‘best application of science’ award at the 2015 Big Bang events 
organised by EESW.80

WE WILL

 Drive forward What you say counts, Focus on Science and Education begins at 
home actively promoting their key themes over the year ahead in support of 
attitudinal change towards STEM.81

 By December 2015 publish further resources for parents, linked to the 
Education begins at home campaign, so they better understand the importance 
of STEM learning for their children.82

 Support science activity at local science festivals, Skills Cymru, and Big Bang 
events in Wales, over the year ahead so that key campaign messages can be 
communicated and learners better access STEM careers information.83   

 As part of Focus on Science activity in 2015-16, produce further case studies 
with a focus on role models and career options, targeting enhancement of girls’ 
engagement with STEM subjects, and disseminate widely.84

 Over the next two years, work with the UK-wide Your Life KS4 mathematics 
and science campaign to ensure synergies between the campaigns are 
maximised, and that young people in Wales (and notably girls) have access to 
Your Life opportunities.85     

4.2 Careers advice and guidance

As noted in Section 2, the advice and guidance provided through the Careers Wales 
website and other channels, including face-to-face where appropriate, is informed by 
professional bodies including Sector Skills Councils, employers, Labour Market 
Information (LMI) data, and research.  As a result of these links, Careers Wales is 
developing a series of features for its website, one of which, Spotlight on STEM is 
highlighting the opportunities and careers in this area.  Such year-round guidance is 
enhanced at key points - for example, young people receiving their GCSE and A 
level results each summer. 

                                                            
78 Relates to Recommendation 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
79

Relates to Recommendations 7 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
80

Relates to Recommendation 4 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
81

Relates to Recommendations 2, 4 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 
82

Relates to Recommendations 6 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
83

Relates to Recommendations 4, 6, 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
84 Relates to Recommendations 6 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
85 Relates to Recommendations 6 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report

Pack Page 81



29

Building on its role as the all-Wales, all-age, impartial and bilingual CIAG service,
Careers Wales has a strategic function facilitating the development of closer links 
between schools, colleges and employers.  The annual remit letter from Welsh 
Ministers to Careers Wales sets out how in the coming year Careers Wales will 
support the implementation of a new model for school-employer links, facilitated by 
the Enhanced Employer Engagement project.

The Wales Strategic Forum for Career Development brings together representative 
organisations and expertise from public, private and third sector organisations,
including education and employer representatives. In February, it considered the 
different issues affecting individuals’ choices of STEM careers, including recognising 
the challenges females can encounter in pursuing STEM career pathways and 
entering such occupations.  Good careers advice can help an individual overcome
barriers, and help tackle gender stereotypes.

IN SUMMARY: OUR ACTIONS

WE HAVE

 Targeted careers advice and guidance support through Careers Wales to 
ensure accurate and impartial information is available to young people before 
they make crucial subject choices.86

 Prioritised improvements in the universal offer through Careers Wales online to 
provide updated career tools and job information, and its continued hosting of 
the portals for Apprenticeship Matching Service and Jobs Growth Wales 
opportunities.87

 Improved the accessibility to Labour Market Information (LMI) through Careers 
Wales online, particularly for younger users, through a more visual snapshot of 
key information on potential careers, including those in STEM.88

 Ensured that information on STEM average wages, hours, types of work, levels 
of qualifications needed, and level of demand in Wales is presented online for 
young people in a more simplified ‘icon-based’ format.89   

 Through the Careers Wales website, established the Skills Gateway service to 
provide a way for adults to get the support they require in order to improve their 
skills and to move into sustainable employment.  

 Charged Careers Wales to support the development of stronger and more 
sustainable partnerships between schools, colleges and employers to better 
facilitate school-employer engagement through a brokerage function, and 
support such as guidance for schools.90

                                                            
86

Relates to Recommendation 6 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
87

Relates to Recommendation 6 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
88

Relates to Recommendation 6 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
89 Relates to Recommendation 6 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 
90 Relates to Recommendation 4 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report

Pack Page 82



30

WE WILL

 Inform the development of the CareersWales.com website in 2015-16 with user 
feedback and consultation with clients and stakeholders, including examining 
the use of new technologies, for example social media.91

 Launch the Welsh Government’s new Enhanced Employer Engagement project 
in September 2015 to strengthen links between schools and employers and 
increase the opportunities for young people to gain experience of the world of 
work and develop skills relevant to employment during their studies.92

 Require Careers Wales through the annual remit to deliver a comprehensive 
impartial universal service offer to all clients, with prioritisation on certain client 
groups, providing as appropriate, an impartial one-to-one careers guidance 
interview, group session interactions, and accessible online information.93

 Continue to support careers events, such as Skills Cymru in October 2015, 
ensuring relevant information on STEM careers is available to young people.94

 Ensure that Careers Wales addresses the needs of young people with 
particular challenges, for example, Additional Learning Needs, in line with the 
annual Remit Letter and relevant Welsh Government guidance, through 
identification of client need and prioritisation.95

 Continue work with Careers Wales on the development of the Common Area 
Prospectus / Application Process (CAP) and its phased roll-out into schools 
from September 2015.96

4.3 Women in STEM

As noted earlier, girls’ take-up of mathematics, ICT/computing, engineering and 
physics as they progress through their education and into the world of work remains 
behind that for boys.  Girls are, therefore, not fully benefitting from the opportunities 
that the STEM sector can offer.  

Equally, there are issues with the ‘leaky pipeline’ of women lost to science careers 
later in life.  The Minister for Economy, Science and Transport established a Woman 
in Science Task and Finish Group with a broad remit to investigate what barriers 
may exist to women studying STEM subjects in Wales.  It is due to report in the 
autumn this year.  This section highlights additional work being undertaken to 
promote and increase female participation in STEM. 

                                                            
91

Relates to Recommendation 6 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report 
92

Relates to Recommendation 4 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
93

Relates to Recommendation 6 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
94

Relates to Recommendations 4, 6 and 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
95 Relates to Recommendation 6 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report
96 Relates to Recommendation 6 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report

Pack Page 83



31

IN SUMMARY: OUR ACTIONS97

WE HAVE

 Prioritised girls’ progression in physics and mathematics as key strands of our 
marketing and communications work.

 Highlighted a gender balance in education progression as a key objective 
through our grant funding to STEM stakeholders - for example, in NSA funding 
to Engineering Education Scheme Wales Ltd (EESW) for Girls into 
Engineering, which encourages girls to consider engineering pathways that are 
accessible, interesting and relevant.

 Agreed with the European Commission that girls’ progression should feature as 
a priority within the STEM Specific Objective of the new ESF programme in 
West Wales and the Valleys for interventions for 11-19 year olds.

WE WILL

 Continue to prioritise girls’ progression in physics and mathematics as key 
strands of our marketing and communications work.

 Continue to highlight a gender balance in education progression as a key 
objective, through our grant funding to STEM stakeholders.

 Through the NSA strategy, focus on actively encouraging more girls to take up 
and study STEM subjects and go on to pursue careers in science and 
technology.

 Consider the recommendations of the Women in Science Task and Finish 
Group in the autumn 2015, with particular emphasis on possible impacts for 
policy and programme development underpinning STEM skills. 

                                                            
97 Relates to Recommendation 11 of the EBC STEM Inquiry Report

Pack Page 84



32

Annex A

Draft set of key indicators – for comment 

Measure

In Primary Schools

Percentage of children achieving the expected level of learning or above in science and 

mathematics at the end of Key Stage 2.

The attainment of learners eligible for free school meals in science and mathematics is 

rising faster than the average at the end of Key Stage 2.

In Secondary Schools

The percentage of pupils who achieve the Level 2 threshold including a GCSE grade A*-C 

in Mathematics including by gender.  

The percentage of pupils who achieve the Welsh Baccalaureate, including by gender.  

The capped points score of pupils at the end of Key Stage 4, including 2 mathematics 

GCSEs and 2 science qualifications (GCSEs from 2018), including by gender.  

GCSE attainment in science, ICT/computing and mathematics, including by gender.  

Percentage of triple (three individual) science GCSE entries, including by gender.  

The attainment of learners eligible for free school meals in science and mathematics is 

rising faster than the average at the end of Key Stages 3 and 4.

Attendance in secondary schools.

In schools and colleges – sixth forms  

The percentage of learners undertaking STEM A levels, including by gender.  

Girls’ take up of A level physics and mathematics as a percentage of the total for each 

subject.

Post 16

The percentage of 19 year olds in Wales attaining level 2 and level 3 STEM qualifications, 

including by gender.  

STEM related university entrants, including by gender.  

Pack Page 85



33

Annex B
References / Additional Sources

Science for Wales – A strategic agenda for science and innovation (Welsh Government, 2012)
http://gov.wales/topics/businessandeconomy/csaw/publications/130319sfw/?lang=en

Qualified for Life: An education improvement plan for 3 to 19-year olds in Wales (Welsh Government, 
2014) http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/allsectorpolicies/qualified-for-life-an-educational-
improvement-plan/?lang=en
  
Successful Futures: Independent review of curriculum and assessment arrangements in Wales 
(Professor Graham Donaldson CB, 2015)
http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/schoolshome/curriculuminwales/curriculum-for-
wales/?lang=en

Teaching Tomorrow’s Teachers: Options for the future of initial teacher education in Wales (John 
Furlong, University of Oxford, 2015)
http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/wagreviews/teaching-tomorrows-
teachers/?lang=en

New deal for the education workforce: Written Statement. (Welsh Government, 16 March 2015)
http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2015/newdealeducation/?lang=en

Welsh Government Policy Statement on Skills, 29 January 2014
http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2014/8417459/?lang=en

Enterprise and Learning Committee Report: The STEM agenda (National Assembly for Wales, 2011)
http://www.assembly.wales/en/bus-home/bus-third-assembly/3-committees/3-scrutiny-
inquiries/Pages/research-completed_inquiries.aspx#enterpriseandlearningcompleted

Enterprise and Business Committee Report: STEM Skills (National Assembly for Wales, 2014)
http://senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=2225

Foundation Phase: Framework for children’s learning for 3 to 7-year-olds in Wales (Welsh Assembly 
Government, 2008)
http://learning.wales.gov.uk/resources/browse-all/framework-for-childrens-learning/?lang=en

Science in the National Curriculum for Wales (Welsh Assembly Government, 2008)
http://learning.wales.gov.uk/resources/browse-all/science-in-the-national-curriculum/?lang=en

STEM Guidance for schools and colleges in Wales (Welsh Government, 2012)
http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/stemguidance/?lang=en

Design and technology in the National Curriculum for Wales (Welsh Assembly Government, 2008)
http://learning.wales.gov.uk/resources/browse-all/design-and-technology-in-the-national-curriculum-
for-wales/?lang=en

Skills framework for 3 to 19-year-olds in Wales (Welsh Assembly Government, 2008)
http://www.learningobservatory.com/resource/skills-framework-for-3-to-19-year-olds-in-wales/

Careers and the World of Work: A framework for 11 to 19-year-olds in Wales (Welsh Assembly 
Government, 2008)
http://learning.wales.gov.uk/resources/browse-all/careers-world-of-work/?lang=en

More Able and Talented - Standards and Guidance
http://learning.wales.gov.uk/resources/improvementareas/inclusion/more-able-and-talented/?lang=en

What makes great teaching?  Sutton Trust, 2014
http://www.suttontrust.com/researcharchive/great-teaching/

Pack Page 86



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 87

Agenda Item 7


	Agenda
	2 Scrutiny of Network Rail
	EBC(4)-12-15 (p.1) Network Rail

	3 City Regions
	4 Development Bank for Wales
	5.1 STEM update
	EBC(4)-12-15 (p.5) Draft STEM in Education Delivery Plan

	7 Maritime Economy Scoping Paper

